



Who partners up? Educational assortative matching and the distribution of income in New Zealand

Omoniyi B Alimi, David C Maré, and Jacques Poot

Motu Working Paper 18-13 Motu Economic and Public Policy Research October 2018

Document information

Author contact details Omoniyi B Alimi University of Waikato oba3@students.waikato.ac.nz

David C Maré Motu Economic and Public Policy Research dave.mare@motu.org.nz

Jacques Poot Vrije Universiteit and University of Waikato h.j.poot@vu.nl

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Ben Davies of Motu, and Robert Didham and Tyler Northern from Statistics New Zealand for their help with the New Zealand Census Data.

Disclaimer

Access to the data used in this study was provided by Statistics New Zealand (SNZ) under conditions designed to give effect to the security and confidentiality provisions of the Statistics Act 1975. All frequency counts using Census data were subject to base three rounding in accordance with SNZ's release policy for census data.

Motu Economic and Public Policy Research

PO Box 24390info@motu.org.nz+64 4 9394250Wellingtonwww.motu.org.nzNew Zealand

© 2018 Motu Economic and Public Policy Research Trust and the authors. Short extracts, not exceeding two paragraphs, may be quoted provided clear attribution is given. Motu Working Papers are research materials circulated by their authors for purposes of information and discussion. They have not necessarily undergone formal peer review or editorial treatment. ISSN 1176-2667 (Print), ISSN 1177-9047 (Online).

Abstract

Educational assortative matching among couples, i.e. the phenomenon whereby the higheducated have partners who are also high-educated, has gained attention in popular media and academic research as a driver of recent changes in the distribution of household income. We examine the effect of educational assortative matching on the distribution of household income in New Zealand - a country which has experienced rising inequality, increased educational attainment and a relatively low, and falling, wage premium for higher levels of education. Using data from the 1986, 1991, 1996, 2001, 2006 and 2013 Census of Population and Dwellings and a counterfactual randomisation methodology that accounts for secular changes in the educational distribution, we find that educational assortative matching has increased but, contrary to some evidence overseas, this increase was driven by increased matching in the middle of the educational distribution. Spatially, we find higher and increasing levels of educational assortative matching in metropolitan areas compared to non-metropolitan areas where assortative matching was lower and decreasing. We find that educational assortative matching has had an inequality-increasing impact on the distribution of income, especially for the full-time employed - for whom the matching impact is around 20 percent of the Mean Log Deviation measure of inequality. Additionally, sorting on observable characteristics such as age and location (with the higher educated being disproportionally attracted to the metropolitan areas) are also inequality-increasing and sorting on unobservable characteristics that impact on income can play an important role as well.

JEL codes D31, J12 and R23.

Keywords Assortative matching, inequality

Summary haiku Falling in love with one as educated boosts inequality.

Table of Contents

1	Introduction						
2	Literature Review						
3	Data and Methodology						
	3.1	Data	13				
	3.2	Methodology	15				
4	Result	s: Educational Assortative Matching and Income Inequality in New Zealand	17				
	4.1	Patterns and changes in the personal income distribution for individuals participating in the labour					
	force		17				
	4.2	Patterns and changes in the distribution of income of male-female couples working full-time	18				
	4.3	Patterns of educational assortative matching among male-female couples in New Zealand	21				
	4.4	The impact of assortative matching on income inequality among couples working full-time in New					
	Zealand	1	34				
5	Conclu	ision	41				
Refe	References 4						
Арр	Appendix 46						
Rece	ecent Motu Working Papers 69						

Tables and Figures

Figure 1: Assortative matching index for couples with same category of education by area in all periods	32
Figure 2: Effect of educational assortative matching on the distribution of income of couples working full-time in ea	ach
Census period by area: MLDs	36

Table 1: Decomposition of personal income inequality (MLD) by labour-force groups: All urban areas combined	18
Table 2: Mean and inequality statistics by couple type in each census period for all urban areas combined	20
Table 3: Inequality of total income of male-female couples working full-time and aged 25-64 from 1986 to 2013	21
Table 4: Educational distribution for individuals in couples aged 25-64 in all urban areas from 1986 to 2013	22
Table 5: Actual proportion of couples in each educational pairing from 1986 to 2013: All urban areas combined	23
Table 6: Proportion of couples in each educational pairing from 1986 to 2013 under randomisation: All urban areas	S
combined	24
Table 7: Concentration ratio: All urban areas combined	26
Table 8: Assortative matching index by educational group: All urban areas combined	29
Table 9: Assortative matching index by educational group for all areas	31
Table 10: Assortative matching index of occupational pairings of couples from 1986 to 2013 by area	33
Table 11: Effect of educational assortative matching on the distribution of income of couples working full-time in ea	ach
Census period by area: MLDs	35

Table 12: Effect of educational assortative matching on the distribution of income of couples working full-time and	
everyone in the labour force Ginis and MLD	37
Table 13: Effect of educational assortative matching on the distribution of income of couples working full-time under	er
unconditional and conditional randomisations using MLDs by area	39
Appendix Table A: Summary of MLD changes by area for the individual population 25-64. Source: Alimi et al. (2018))46
Appendix Table B: Decomposition of personal income inequality by labour-force groups: Non-metropolitan areas	46
Appendix Table C: Decomposition of personal income inequality by labour-force groups: Metropolitan areas	47
Appendix Table D: Mean and inequality statistics by couple type in each census period for Non-metropolitan areas	48
Appendix Table E: Mean and inequality statistics by couple type in each census period for Metropolitan areas	49
Appendix Table F: Educational distribution for individuals in couples aged 25-64 in Non-metropolitan areas from	
1986 to 2013	50
Appendix Table G: Educational distribution for individuals in couples aged 25-64 in Metropolitan areas from 1986 t	:0
2013	51
Appendix Table H: Actual proportion of couples in each educational pairing: Non-metropolitan areas	52
Appendix Table I: Proportion of couples in each educational pairing under randomisation: Non-metropolitan areas	53
Appendix Table J: Actual proportion of couples in each educational pairing: Metropolitan areas	54
Appendix Table K: Proportion of couples in each educational pairing under randomisation: Metropolitan areas	55
Appendix Table L: Concentration ratio from 1986 to 2013: Non-metropolitan areas	56
Appendix Table M: Concentration ratio from 1986 to 2013: Metropolitan areas	57
Appendix Table N: Assortative matching index by educational group for non-metropolitan areas	58
Appendix Table O: Assortative matching index by educational group for metropolitan areas	59
Appendix Table P: Actual occupational pairings in 1986 and 2013: All urban areas	60
Appendix Table Q: Occupational pairing under randomisation in 1986 and 2013: All urban areas	61
Appendix Table R: Actual occupational pairings in 1986 and 2013: Non-metropolitan areas	62
Appendix Table S: Occupational pairing under randomisation in 1986 and 2013: Non-metropolitan areas	63
Appendix Table T: Actual occupational pairings in 1986 and 2013: Metropolitan areas	64
Appendix Table U: Occupational pairing under randomisation in 1986 and 2013: Metropolitan areas	65
Appendix Table V: Assortative matching index of occupational pairings for 1986 and 2013 in all urban areas	66
Appendix Table W: Assortative matching index of occupational pairings for 1986 and 2013 in non-metropolitan are	as
	67

Appendix Table X: Assortative matching index of occupational pairings for 1986 and 2013 in Metropolitan areas 68

1 Introduction

Changes in the distribution of income continue to be of concern in New Zealand¹. At the household level, inequality rose rapidly in the mid-1980s and 1990s but stabilised at this higher level in the 2000s (Perry, 2017, Easton, 2013, Ball and Creedy, 2016). As for the rest of the developed world that has experienced growing income inequality since the 1980s, there is a large literature on explaining these distributional changes. Most of the attention has been on the role of economic drivers like sectoral shifts, pay at the top, globalisation and skill-biased technological change (Autor, Levy & Murnane, 2003, Michaels, Natraj & Van Reenen, 2014, Blum, 2008 and Henze, 2014). As well as the economic factors, there is also growing evidence that socio-demographic changes like ageing, migration and changes in the patterns of family formation have played a non-negligible role in influencing the distribution of income as well (see OECD, 2008 for a review of the international evidence; and Ball and Creedy, 2016 and Hyslop and Maré, 2005 for New Zealand evidence). One important socio-demographic mechanism that received considerable attention overseas but less so in New Zealand is the role of educational assortative matching of couples in driving household inequality². Broadly defined, assortative matching is the selection of partners based on how similar they are with respect to certain characteristics. Traditionally, the pattern of partnering has been selective on characteristics such as age and ethnicity. Educational assortative matching is the partnering of people with similar educational levels. Since education is often a significant predictor of income, patterns of partnering and changes to these patterns may influence the distribution of income at the family or household level. In academic as well as popular media³, the increasing sorting of couples into educationally homogenous relationships has been touted as a strong driver of growing inequality in the distribution of income at the household/family level. The argument goes as follows: education is typically a significant predictor of income; hence if people with similar levels of education increasingly partner up, this will lead to an increase in inter-household inequality driven by the gap that is created between the high-educated high-income households and the low-educated low-income households. Thus, reduction in intra-household inequality may be increasing inter-household inequality.

The study of assortative matching and its effect on the distribution of income is important because the process of partnering not only holds implications for cross-sectional inequality but is important for the future of inequality as well. If couples are sorting on characteristics that are increasingly correlated with income, this will affect the current distribution of income as well as

¹ See Collins (2014) and Edwards (2017).

² The descriptive studies by Callister and Didham (2010, 2014) are an exception.

³ For popular media, see the Cowen (2015) article in the *New York Times* and the Worstall (2015) article in the *Forbes* magazine. The next section reviews the academic literature.

influence the inter-generational transmission of inequality, depending on how resources are passed down on to the next generation and the extent to which any form of observable or unobservable advantage is conferred on offspring. For example, Schwartz (2013) argues that when both partners of a couple are high-educated, this is positively related to child outcomes. Ermisch, Francesconi and Siedler (2006) use German and British data to show that on average about 40–50 percent of the covariance between parents' income and own family income can be attributed to the person to whom one is married. In New Zealand, Maré and Stillman (2010) provide evidence that children with more highly educated parents do better on cognitive tests. Assortative matching may not only have consequences for the current generation but also belongs to the category of structural change factors that may lead to, and perpetuate, permanent differences.

Intuitively, the role of assortative matching on the household income distribution seems direct but identifying the effect of assortative matching on the distribution of income is trickier due to the presence of many confounding factors⁴. Earlier studies took as evidence of educational assortative matching one or some of the following: changes in the correlation of educational attainment between couples, changes in the correlation of earnings between couples, and changes in the proportion of couples with the same level of education/earnings. However, this approach is flawed because secular trends like changes in the educational distribution can increase the correlation in couples' education or the proportion of couples with the same level of education, while increased labour force participation rates of women can influence the correlation between couples' earnings. As well as these secular trends that can confound the identification of the effect of assortative matching, another issue in the analysis of the effect of assortative matching on the distribution of income is the issue of joint labour supply responses. Couples typically make joint decisions to participate in the labour force. Incomes are determined not only by education level (as a proxy for earning potential) but also by hours worked. The individual decision on hours worked may be influenced by the income or education level of a partner. Thus, a high-earning high-educated person partnered to another high-earninghigh-educated person may decide to work less. An example is a doctor who partnered another doctor and then works fewer hours than if partnered to a teacher. These secular trends and labour supply responses will affect estimates of educational assortative matching on the income distribution if they are not explicitly accounted for.

In this study, we analyse the trends and changes in the patterns of education assortative matching in New Zealand using individual unit record data from each Census from 1986 to 2013⁵. This period is particularly interesting because both inequality and the proportion of

⁴ See Eika, Mogstad and Zafar (2014) for a review of factors that can confound the measure of assortative matching and Pestel (2017) for an explanation of how endogenous labour supply responses influence estimates of assortative matching.

⁵ New Zealand Censuses were held in 1986, 1991, 1996, 2001, 2006, and 2013.

couples living in educationally homogenous households increased. In addition, there was a large increase in average educational attainment, decline in the gender pay gap, and increases in the labour force participation of females over this period. This study makes four important contributions: first, to the best of our knowledge, it is the first study to formally examine the effect of assortative matching on the distribution of income in New Zealand. While there is descriptive evidence in New Zealand of growing assortative matching (see Callister and Didham, 2010, 2014), its impact on household inequality has not been examined. In the last three or so decades, New Zealand has shared similarities with the US and some European countries in terms of growing inequality and changes in the educational distribution. However, New Zealand has a lower educational/skill premium and there is recent evidence that this premium has declined further⁶. We provide evidence on the role of assortative matching on the distribution of income in this interesting and unique context. Secondly, we take a spatial approach which is unique in the extant literature. Typically, studies of assortative matching are at the national level but one important mechanism for inequality at the sub-national level could be the inter-relationship between city size, assortative matching and household income. Because bigger cities attract more people, especially educated people in their prime ages, it is expected that there may be more assortative matching in bigger cities⁷. These patterns may translate to higher inequality in metropolitan areas and differences in rates of assortative matching may explain some of the variation in inequality across space already documented in New Zealand⁸. Thirdly, we show that concentration ratios (ratio of actual matching to random matching) which is very popular in the literature to describe changes in assortative matching are influenced by population proportions. This may lead to wrong conclusions on the patterns and trends of assortative matching. We present a new index that overcomes the limitation of the concentration ratios. Finally, past research on the impact of assortative matching on household inequality has been imperfect due to ignoring the confounding effect of endogenous joint labour supply responses and secular changes in the educational distribution not being taken into account. Through a counterfactual randomisation methodology, we address the changing educational distribution issue and by focusing on couples working full-time, we try to limit the possibility of joint labour supply responses⁹. This means that our results reflect the best available direct evidence on the effect of educational assortative matching on the distribution of income in New Zealand.

Our results will also have implications for policies meant to address inequality. If significant differences in inequality across areas are driven by what is happening in the patterns

⁶ See Zuccollo, Maani, Kaye-Blake and Zeng (2013) for OECD comparison of skill premiums and Maré (2018) for evidence on trends of the New Zealand skill premium.

⁷ In addition, in New Zealand, all eight universities, which may function as a "meet market", are in the largest urban areas.

⁸ See Karagedikli, Maré and Poot (2000, 2003) and Alimi, Maré and Poot (2016, 2017).

⁹ Even among full time workers, there is still the possibility of interacting labour supply responses of partners in terms of hours worked or choice of occupation. Some studies have adopted formal techniques to model these endogenous labour supply responses. For example, see Pestel (2017).

of matching, then we might want to revise our expectations of the capability of government policies to address inequality, unless of course the government is somehow given the means to intervene in the partnering market, which is extremely unlikely in a liberal and democratic society. Instead, policy is more likely to be aiming at enhancing geographic labour mobility to the extent that immobility imposes an economic disadvantage. In this study, we therefore examine assortative matching across space and focus on differences between metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas in partnering and its effect on the distribution of income.

We focus on opposite sex couples¹⁰ aged between 25 and 64 earning positive income and find that assortative matching for this group in all urban areas has increased. Contrary to popular opinion and overseas evidence, educational assortative matching fell at the extremes of the educational distribution (high-educated and low-educated) but increased in the middle of the educational distribution (other-educated). Spatially, assortative matching increased in metropolitan areas but fell in non-metropolitan areas. In all periods, educational assortative matching has an inequality-increasing impact on the distribution of income (around 20 percent of observed inequality in each period for those working full-time). Spatially, we find that the effect of assortative matching on income inequality is larger and increased faster in metropolitan areas as well.

While our study focuses on the correlation between changes in educational assortative matching and changes in the distribution of income, the results cannot be given a clear causal interpretation¹¹. Indeed, our method can be interpreted as representing an accounting approach that can only be regarded as a first-order approximation of the effect of assortative matching on the distribution of income. However, other recent work, such as Eika, Mogstad and Zafar (2014), Greenwood, Guner, Kocharkov and Santos (2014) and Kuhn and Ravazzini (2017) takes the same approach.

The rest of the study proceeds as follows: the next section discusses the existing literature on the relationship between assortative matching and the distribution of income; Section 3 introduces the data and methodology; Section 4 provides descriptive evidence and results from our counterfactual randomisation methodology; and section 5 concludes.

¹⁰ At the 2006 census, less than one percent of people living in couple families had reported to be in a same-sex partnership (see Statistics New Zealand, 2010). Also, the statistical coding of couple families as either opposite-sex or same-sex couples began with the 1996 census. For Censuses pre-1996, if a household consisted of an adult male and an adult female it was difficult to separate whether they were in a relationship, or were a brother and sister living together or were just flatmates.

¹¹ While assortative matching is likely to impact on the distribution of household income, changes in the distribution of income for other reasons may trigger changes in educational assortative matching as well. For example, personal income influences the social networks a person belongs to, which in turn impacts on partner selection.

2 Literature Review

The literature on assortative matching is extensive¹². Interest in the role of educational assortative matching has a long history that can be traced back to Becker's (1973, 1981) seminal work on marriage and the family; and empirical works like Blackburn and Bloom (1987, 1994), and Cancian and Reed (1998, 1999) that explains changes in the distribution of family income. In this review, we present evidence from the earlier studies as well as discuss limitations of their approaches. We examine the different methodological approaches that are common in recent studies and what the differences in approach imply for the evidence of assortative matching on inequality. Finally, we review the available descriptive evidence on educational assortative matching in New Zealand.

Assortative matching could be on other characteristics such as age, ethnicity, religion, as well as earnings. Our study focuses on educational assortative matching and its impact on the distribution of income, thus our review is limited to a subset of studies focusing on education assortative matching. For a broader review of the literature on assortative matching, see Kalmijn (1998) and Schwartz (2013).

Early studies of educational assortative matching typically use the correlation between couples' level of education and the proportion of couples with the same level of education as evidence of assortative matching¹³. For example, Schwartz and Mare (2005) examined educational assortative marriage from 1940 to 2003 in the United States using Census and survey data. They find increasing resemblance of spouses in terms of educational attainment. They show that educational homogamy decreased from 1940 to 1960 but increased from 1960 to 2003. Their conclusion was already earlier reached by Kremer (1997) and Pencavel (1998) who focused on the same period in the US.

Blossfeld and Timm (2003) provide evidence from 12 European countries and the United States. In eight countries, they compared observed rates of marriage to random marital matching in each birth cohort. They find evidence of increased homogamy in marriage; specifically, they concluded that people seem to prefer to a large extent to marry an equally educated partner in these countries. Macfarlane (2016) also conducted a comparative analysis of assortative matching in European countries using data from 29 countries in the 2012 European Social Survey and found evidence of assortative matching in each country.

Alongside the descriptive studies, earlier studies that linked assortative matching to the distribution of income focused on the effect of changing correlation of husband-wife earnings on

¹² This topic has generated interest from sociologist, demographers and economists. Asides from its effect on income inequality, sociologist are typically also interested in assortative matching because of its implication for social rigidity, exclusion and social openness (see Blossfeld, 2009)

¹³ Another important thing to note with earlier studies is that they were mostly focused on legally married couples, so most of the literature is framed in terms of husband and wives. More recent studies have focused on legal marriage as well as people who are in de-facto relationships and cover both same-sex and different-sex couples (e.g. Verbakel and Kalmijn on Dutch couples in 2014 Journal of Marriage and Family)

overall income inequality. For example, Burtless (1999) finds that around 13 percent of the rise in household inequality was due to an increase in the correlation of husband and wife earnings. Other studies have adopted a decomposition approach especially of the Coefficient of Variation measure¹⁴. Changes in the inequality of household earnings are decomposed to parts resulting from changes in the earning inequality of husbands, changes in the earning inequality of wives as well as the correlation between husband and wives' earnings. The changes due to the correlation between husband and wife earnings are taken as evidence of assortative matching. Other things being equal, an increase in the correlation of earnings between husband and wife will increase overall household inequality. Cancian, Danziger and Gottschalk (1993) and Blackburn and Bloom (1994) present evidence of such inter-spousal correlation coefficient increase.

Schwartz (2010) notes the limitation of the changes in correlation coefficient approach as a measure of changing association between spousal earnings. She proposes a modelling approach that "differentiates between earners and non-earners and incorporates measures of shrinking economic differences between spouses both in terms of their earnings relative to other members of their own sex" (p.1526). Depending on the measure of inequality used, her study found a stronger association of earnings between couples as responsible for around 25-30 percent of the increase in inequality. Furthermore, Gihleb and Lang (2016) make an important point on the use of the correlation coefficient of educational levels of partners as a measure of assortative matching. They argue that due to the ordinal nature of most educational classifications, rank correlation measures are typically employed, but these measures, such as the Spearman Rank correlation measure, do not perform well in measuring association in data with lot of ties such as ordinal educational levels. Further criticisms of assortative matching studies based on measures of association of income or education between spouses are that, firstly, other secular factors like changes in the educational distribution and, secondly, increased labour force participation of women could also be responsible for increased inter-spousal correlation in education and/or earnings (see Eika et al. 2014).

Recent studies have addressed the limitation of earlier studies by adopting a counterfactual randomisation approach to measuring assortative matching as well as to its effect on income inequality (Greenwood et al., 2014, Eika et al., 2014, Hrysho, Juhn and McCue, 2017). An increase in the number of couples with the same level of education does not imply an increase in assortative matching because factors like secular increase in educational attainment will increase the marginal distribution of educated people and thus increase the chances of couples being in the same educational group even though the rate of assortative matching has

¹⁴ See Cancian, Danziger and Gottschalk (1993) and Blackburn and Bloom (1994) Cancian and Reed (1999) for further evidence. Breen and Andersen (2012) and Breen and Salazar (2011) use a counterfactual decomposition technique based on decomposing generalised entropy measures such as the Theil measure and Mean Log Deviation (MLD).

not changed. For example, in New Zealand, our data show that the proportion of people with higher education increased from 9 percent in 1986 to 32 percent in 2013. Hence even if the rate of assortative matching has not changed, there will be more couples with both having a high level of education, simply because that there are more educated people.

These studies compare the actual changes to what would have happened if there was random partnering. If the ratio of actual to random partnering is greater than one, it means the proportion of couples in the same educational category is greater than what may be expected if matching was random and there is then evidence of sorting of couples into that category. Eika et al. (2014) use a similar approach and create a sorting parameter S_{ij} based on the ratio of the observed probability that a husband with education level *i* is married to a wife with education level *j* relative to the probability under random matching with respect to education. By comparing the actual probability to the probability if matching was random, this method accounts for changes in the marginal distribution of education.

However, there are two major distinct approaches in the counterfactual randomisation methodology; the additional randomisation approach and the imputation randomisation approach (Harmenberg, 2014). The key differences between both approaches are well noted in Harmenberg (2014) and in Frémeaux and Lefranc (2017) and are summarised here. In the additional randomisation approach, individual incomes are held constant and treated like a fixed individual characteristic. The randomised counterfactual in this approach is based on a distribution where couples are randomly matched into couples but keep their actual observed income. This approach is limited because it does not allow for endogenous labour supply responses. This method assumes income and labour supply decisions are independent of household formation. Instead, there is in reality no reason to believe that, for example, a nurse partnered to a teacher will work the same hours and thus earn the same income than if that same nurse was partnered to a plastic surgeon.

The imputation randomisation accounts for these endogenous labour supply responses by taking household income as given instead of individual incomes. In this approach, individuals are randomly matched into couples and their household income is imputed based on household income of actual couples with the same observed characteristics. For example, assume that we create by randomisation a pseudo-household consisting of one lawyer and one doctor, the household income of this pseudo-household will be decided by randomly selecting from the household income of actual households with the same characteristics i.e. households in the actual distribution with a lawyer and a doctor. This approach is limited by how well labour supply decisions are driven by observed characteristics of couples. Harmenberg (2014) gives an important illustration in this regard – "there are strong reasons to believe that young men with no high school degree who are married to old women with more than a college degree are systematically different from young men with no high school degree married to young women

11

with no high school degree" (p.2). In addition, there is also the possibility that we might have randomised pseudo-households for which there are no actual households with the same actual characteristics.

Other studies like Pestel (2015) and Frémeaux and Lefranc (2017) have suggested some other approaches to account for endogenous labour supply decisions. Pestel (2017) accounts for endogenous labour supply by developing a structural model of household labour supply decisions using conditional logit while Frémeaux and Lefranc (2017) suggest using potential earnings instead of annual income. Potential earning is in this case defined as the earnings which an individual will receive if he/she worked full-time. The benefit of using potential earning is its independence from joint labour supply decisions since it is not dependent on hours worked unlike actual observed earnings.

The implication of the differences in randomisation techniques, when estimating the assortative matching impact on the distribution of income, may not be trivial. It depends on the extent of endogenous labour supply responses. Estimates from the additional randomisation approach will be smaller since endogenous labour supply responses typically dampen the effect of assortative matching (Harmenberg, 2014). Evidence from Pestel (2017) shows a assortative matching has a pronounced effect after adjusting for joint labour supply behaviour in West Germany.

Empirical evidence on the effect of educational assortative matching is mixed. Hryshko et al. (2017) and Eika et al. (2014) have found a small positive effect of assortative matching on income inequality in the US. This is contrary to the evidence from Breen and Salazar (2011) for the US where they found educational assortative matching to have a small negative effect on income inequality. In Brazil, where inequality fell, Hakak and Firpo (2017) found assortative matching reduced between 1990 and 2015 and this had very little effect on income inequality over this period. Evidence from Denmark in Breen and Andersen (2012) suggests that changes in the educational distribution rather than educational assortative matching drove the growing inequality in Denmark between 1987 and 2006.

Given the methodological issues, it is unsurprising that evidence on the role of assortative matching on income inequality seems inconclusive. Blossfeld (2009) highlights issues that lead to inconsistent findings. First, most studies are based on arbitrary classification of educational levels, and aggregation of educational levels might distort measures of educational homogamy¹⁵. Secondly, most studies are based on cross-sectional data. While some focus on first marriage, others often use the whole marriage stock. Analysis using the whole marriage stock may be reflecting the combined effect of other factors that drive re-marriage (Blossfeld, 2009, p.517).

¹⁵ Gihleb and Lang (2016) also make a similar point.

We conclude this section by reviewing the available descriptive New Zealand evidence on educational assortative matching and changes in the educational distribution. To date, no study has linked educational assortative matching to income inequality in New Zealand. Callister and Didham (2010, 2014) use Census data on the 25-34 age group to document changes in educational distribution as well as education assortative matching. They found that between 1986 and 2013, the proportion of couples aged 25 to 34 years where both have a degree or higher has significantly increased from 4.2% to 23.1% while the proportion of couples in this age group where neither holds a formal qualification has declined from 14% to 3.3%. In the 20year period between 1986 and 2006, there was a complete reversal in the ratio of education attainment between men and women. In 1986, 45 percent more males than females were holders of a Bachelor degree or higher. By 2006, there had been a complete reversal with 45 percent more women holding a Bachelor degree than men and by 2013, there were 53 percent more women with Bachelor's degree than men. On assortative matching, they conclude that it is the well-educated who are most likely to be partnered, and if partnered, they tend to have similarly qualified partners. At the same time, those with no formal education are less likely to be partnered, but if partnered they were in 2013 more likely to be with an unqualified partner. They conclude that these patterns and changes will have significant implications for income inequality in New Zealand. In this paper we extend Callister and Didham's (2010, 2014) analysis to the population aged 25-64 and link educational assortative matching to the distribution of income.

The next section details the data and methodology used.

3 Data and Methodology

3.1 Data

The data used are from the unit records of the usually resident New Zealand population from each of the six Censuses of Population and Dwelling between 1986 and 2013¹⁶. New Zealand Census data capture information on a host of socio-demographic characteristics including qualification, income, partnership status and location. Our target population are couples residing in the 40 Main and Secondary urban areas¹⁷. We define couples as male-female partners who are usually resident in the same household. We focus on male-female couples because the census (especially the earlier ones) did not ask questions on the gender of partners which makes it

¹⁶ See also footnote 5.

¹⁷ The 40 urban areas were grouped into metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas. Metropolitan areas are the urban areas in the six largest cities of Auckland, Christchurch, Wellington, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. We use the 2013 Statistics New Zealand definition of urban areas for all periods. The metropolitan areas account for about three quarters of all urban population. The rural population, which is excluded from the data, accounts for only about 14 percent of New Zealand's population.

impossible to separate those in a same-sex relationship from people of the same sex merely living in the same dwelling. Specifically, we identify couples by the answer to the "role in the family" question (if either parent and or spouse). We limit our analysis to those in the 25 to 64 age group working full-time and earning positive income to make our analysis reflective of labour market earnings. The age restriction is because the effect of education on income is likely to work through the labour market, we expect this mechanism to be at play the most in the 25-64 age range as most of the under 25 are either in education or training while the 65s and over will largely be out of the labour force. We limit the study to those working full-time in an attempt to limit joint labour supply responses through hours worked that may affect our estimates of the effect of assortative matching. Thus, the reported effect may be seen as an upper bound to the effect that would result when endogenous labour supply responses are taken into account.

Education is measured in terms of qualification achievement and we have three categories: High-educated (those with a Bachelor degree and above), Other-educated (those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level) and Low-educated (those with no qualification). The inconsistencies in qualification classification over different censuses prevents using a more detailed educational grouping

Our income measure is the sum of personal income of individuals in couples. New Zealand Census income is typically captured in bands with the top income band open-ended¹⁸. We assume each individual earns the average of the income band he or she belongs to¹⁹, and we assume a Pareto distribution for the top open-ended band. The average in the top band have been are calculated using the Stata RPME command developed by von Hippel et al. (2016). Our measure of inequality is the Mean Log Deviation. This measure is one of the generalised entropy measures. Full description of this measure and its properties can be found in Shorrocks (1980) or Bourguignon (1979) and this measure has been used to examine changes in the distribution of income in New Zealand in Alimi et al. (2018a) and in Alimi et al. (2018b).

One important feature of the present study is that we examine the effect of assortative matching on income distribution at the sub-national level. Previous studies have been at the national level but the inter-relationship between self-selection of educated people into cities, assortative matching and household income may have implications for spatial differences in the distribution of income. In addition to examining all urban areas combined, we focus on metropolitan areas (defined as the urban areas that make up the six largest cities in New Zealand) as well as non-metropolitan areas (all other urban areas).

¹⁸ The issue with top open-ended bands are well known. For example, see Breen and Salazar (2011) for US data and Karagedikli et al. (2000) for New Zealand census data.

¹⁹ The availability of income in bands may have implications for our measure of inequality. The MLD assumes every individual earns the midpoint of the income band it belongs. Not accounting for withinband variation may lead to under-estimation of actual inequality.

3.2 Methodology

We follow the additional randomisation counterfactual methodology. The advantages of this methodology are well detailed in Harmenberg (2014). We favour this methodology due to its directness and no requirement for imputation of income based on observed characteristics. In the additional randomisation approach, household income is assumed to be fixed and the effect of assortative matching on the distribution of income is estimated by comparing the observed distribution of income with a counterfactual distribution where matching is random. Although the method has been criticised for not accounting for endogenous labour supply responses, we limit some of the impact of this issue in our study by focusing only on couples where both partners are working full-time.²⁰. Everyone working full time is classified into one of the three educational categories described earlier and education is measured as a household attribute.

For each Census period, let $f_Y^M(y; x)$ represent the distribution of income in an area Mwhere M could be all urban areas combined, or a metropolitan area or a non-metropolitan area, then $f_Y^M(y; x) = \int f_{y|x}^M dF_X^M$ where $f_{y|x}^M$ respresents the education-specific conditional distribution and dF_X^M represents the prevalence of different household-level education mixes between couples. To illustrate, given our three levels of education – Highly Educated (H), Other Educated (O) and Low Education (L), there are six types of education mixes for couples^{21,22}:

- HH- two high-educated partners
- HO /OH one high-educated partner and one other-educated partner
- HL /LH one high-educated partner and one low-educated partner
- OL /LO one other-educated partner and one low-educated partner
- 00 two other-educated partners
- LL- two low-educated partners

Assortative matching on education and changes in the educational distribution will affect the prevalence rate of household-education types i.e. dF_X^M .

By comparing the actual distribution to a counterfactual distribution based on randomisation of partnering, we can net out the effect of changes in the educational distribution. The counterfactual distribution is the distribution of income in area M based on randomising the different types of educational pairing i.e. $\tilde{f}_{Y}^{M|R} = \int f_{y|x}^{M} dF_{RX}^{M}$. Where dF_{RX}^{M} represent prevalence

 $^{^{\}rm 20}$ Although one may argue that there could be endogenous responses in terms of type of job taken even if hours do not change

²¹ There will be 9 types of couples if we account for ordering i.e. male=L and female=H is seen as different from male= H and female=L. The distinction could matter when there a large gender pay gap, given education. In New Zealand, was gap has reduced to 9.4 percent by 2017 (Ministry of Women; women.govt.nz, accessed 2/8/2018. Ignoring the gender assignment in the education paring is unlikely to have affected the conclusions of this paper.

²² Note that if there is a large gender gap in earnings, HO and OH have different expected levels of income. Ditto for HL/LH and OL/LO

of household-education types based on random matching. The effect of educational assortative matching is the difference between these two distributions:

$$f_Y^M - \check{f}_Y^{M|F}$$

We use the MLD as a summary measure of the observed f_Y^M and counterfactual distribution $f_Y^{M|R}$ and the differences in this measure for the two distributions are compared. As well as the unconditional randomisation, we perform several other conditional randomisations where we hold observed characteristics like age, qualification and location constant. These conditional randomisations give us an estimate of the role of sorting on these observed characteristics. Our conditional randomisations are:

- Age conditional: randomising but holding the actual age distribution constant i.e. partnering is random but people are randomly partnered to someone else with the same age as their observed partner
- Qualification conditional: randomising but holding the actual qualification distribution constant i.e. partnering is random but people are randomly partnered to someone else with the same education as their actual observed partner
- Age and qualification conditional: randomising but holding both the actual age and education distribution constant i.e. partnering is random but people are randomly partnered to someone else with the same age and education as their actual observed partner
- Age, qualification and location conditional: randomising but holding the actual age, qualification and spatial distribution (urban area) constant i.e. partnering is random, but people are randomly partnered to someone else with the same age, education, and location as their actual observed partner.

As in Kuhn and Ravazzini (2017), we also provide some approximate estimate of the potential of assortative matching on the distribution of income by assuming extreme levels of assortative matching. We sort the population first on education and then on income bands, i.e. we rank the population from the highest educated to the lowest educated and now sort on income within each education categories. We consider two additional counterfactual distributions: in the first counterfactual, we partner the highest ranked male to the highest ranked female, the second highest ranked male to the second highest ranked female and so on. This gives an estimate of what the distribution of income will be like under maximum assortative matching. In the second counterfactual, we partner the highest ranked male to the second to the least ranked female and so on. This represents a scenario of maximum disassortative matching and we examine what the distribution of income will be like under this assumption.

In the next section we provide descriptive evidence on educational assortative matching as well as results from our counterfactual randomisation methodology.

4 Results: Educational Assortative Matching and Income Inequality in New Zealand

We begin this section by describing the distribution of individual income of those participating in the labour force (full-time employed, part-time employed and unemployed). While we will focus on assortative matching of those in full-time employment only, we first consider everybody in the labour force, including those employed part-time and those unemployed, to show the important contribution of those working full-time to inequality. Next, we shift the level of analysis to couples and focus on the income distribution of male-female couples working fulltime and earning positive income and finally we examine descriptive evidence on the patterns and changes in educational assortative matching. Aside education, we also provide some evidence on occupational assortative matching using the 1-digit New Zealand Standard Classification of Occupation (NZSCO99). In the final section, we link assortative matching to the distribution of income.

4.1 Patterns and changes in the personal income distribution for individuals participating in the labour force

The trends and patterns in income distribution of the 25 to 64 age group earning positive income has already been described in Alimi et al. (2018b). Inequality in individual incomes increased by around 1 percent in all urban areas. This figures hides the spatial disparity, inequality fell in non-metropolitan areas (-11 percent) and rose in metropolitan areas (4 percent) between 1986 to 2013²³.

For those participating in the labour force (i.e full-time employed, part-time employed and unemployed), we find higher rates of growth in inequality of individual incomes. From 1986 to 2013, personal income inequality increased by around 23 percent in all urban areas, mostly driven by increases in metropolitan areas (27 percent) and to a lesser extent by increases in non-metropolitan areas (8 percent).

We decompose the inequality in each census period by labour force status. Inequality among the full-time employed is a important component of inequality of those earning labour income. We find that within-labour force status group inequality account for most of overall inequality (around 78-84 percent of overall inequality, see Table 1) and those working full-time contribute around two-thirds of within-labour force status group inequality.With respect to between-labour force status group inequality, it accounts for around 17 to 22 per cent of overall inequality. Not suprisingly, given the large differences in income between full-time workers, part-time workers and the unemployed, this percentage share is higher than in the case of between-age inequality reported in Alimi et al. (2018a) or between-migrant group inequality in

²³ See Appendix 1 for summary from Alimi et al. (2018).

Alimi et al. (2018b). In Table 1, we present the decomposition of overall inequality into between and within components and the contribution of each labour force groups for all urban areas²⁴.

Labour force groups	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013
		Nationa	l			
	Betwe	en-group co	ontribution			
Full-time	-0.0945	-0.1081	-0.1120	-0.1109	-0.0951	-0.1028
Part-time	0.1108	0.1036	0.1219	0.1259	0.1148	0.1151
Unemployed	0.0351	0.0609	0.0517	0.0468	0.0264	0.0423
Sum between-group	0.0514	0.0564	0.0616	0.0618	0.0461	0.0546
Between as a prop. of total	21.5%	22.0%	20.6%	20.3%	16.5%	18.6%
	With	in-group co	ntribution			
Full-time	0.1226	0.1302	0.1588	0.1667	0.1610	0.1651
Part-time	0.0493	0.0506	0.0641	0.0613	0.0619	0.0564
Unemployed	0.0158	0.0189	0.0151	0.0146	0.0106	0.0171
Sum within-group	0.1877	0.1997	0.2380	0.2426	0.2335	0.2386
Full-time as a prop. of sum within-group Total (sum between-group +	65.3%	65.2%	66.7%	68.7%	69.0%	69.2%
sum within as prop of total-	0.2392	0.2561	0.2997	0.3044	0.2795	0.2932
inequality	78.5%	78.0%	79.4%	79.7%	83.5%	81.4%

Table 1: Decomposition of personal income inequality (MLD) by labour-force groups: All urban areas combined

Notes: Results are the between and within-group contribution to overall inequality (as measured by the MLD) for those participating in the labour force in all urban areas combined (full-time employed, part-time employed and unemployed)

4.2 Patterns and changes in the distribution of income of male-female couples working full-time

We shift our level of analysis to couples and examine the patterns and changes in the distribution of total income of male-female couples working full-time. In Table 2, we present the trend in average incomes and the MLD for the different types of couples (classified by their education levels) from 1986 to 2013 for all urban areas²⁵. For all couples working full-time (regardless of educational level), real average income increased by 28 percent between 1986 and 2013. Unsuprisingly, couples where both partners are highly educated had the highest mean incomes while couples with two low education partners had the lowest average incomes in all periods. Indicative of the gap between high-educated and low-educated couples, the average income in couples with two high-educated partners were more than double that of low-educated

²⁴ Decomposition results for Non-metropolitan and Metropolitan areas are available in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 respectively.

²⁵ Tables for Non-metropolitan and Metropolitan Areas are available in Appendix 4 and Appendix 5 respectively.

partners in all periods except in 1986. The gap between high-educated and low-educated couples widened over time; between 1986 and 2013, high-educated couples had the highest growth in average incomes at 19 percent compared to 6 percent for low-educated couples.

As measured by the MLD, overall inequality for all couples working full time grew by around 49 percent. This masks the variation across couple types. Inequality grew the most in couples with two high-educated partners at 55 percent compared to 1 percent growth for couples with a mix of one high-educated and a low-educated partner (HL/LH)²⁶. In all periods, within-group inequality is lowest among couples with a mix of an other-educated and a loweducated partner (OL/LO). Prior to 1996, couples with a mix of a high-educated and a loweducated partner had the highest within-group inequality but from 1996, high-educated couples had the highest within-group inequality.

²⁶ Note that there may be a slight difference between HL and LH that is not being considered here.

All urban areas combined						
1986	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL
Overall-mean			\$95,	,696		
Group-mean	\$144,627	\$126,924	\$99,873	\$114,930	\$87,853	\$77,594
Rel. mean income	1.51	1.33	1.04	1.20	0.92	0.81
By-group MLD	0.0895	0.0849	0.0766	0.0969	0.0712	0.0747
Pop share	4.0%	8.3%	35.1%	1.0%	30.3%	21.3%
Overall MLD			0.08	895		
1991	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL
Overall mean			\$101	,260		
Group-mean	\$158,934	\$136,119	\$101,400	\$117,485	\$87,594	\$75,510
Rel. mean income	1.57	1.34	1.00	1.16	0.87	0.75
By-group MLD	0.0981	0.0953	0.0898	0.1133	0.0845	0.0859
Pop share	5.7%	10.3%	43.3%	0.9%	26.3%	13.5%
Overall MLD			0.1	089		
1996	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL
Overall mean			\$111	.,133		
Group-mean	\$164,184	\$141,788	\$109,434	\$124,748	\$94,672	\$80,782
Rel. mean income	1.48	1.28	0.98	1.12	0.85	0.73
By-group MLD	0.1235	0.1078	0.0921	0.1171	0.0909	0.0916
Pop share	8.6%	13.2%	39.1%	1.4%	24.2%	13.6%
Overall MLD			0.1	179		
2001	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL
2001 Overall mean	HH	НО/ОН	00 \$120	HL/LH),852	OL/LO	LL
2001 Overall mean Group-mean	НН \$175,377	HO/OH \$149,102	00 \$120 \$113,880	HL/LH),852 \$127,878	0L/L0 \$97,652	LL \$83,046
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income	HH \$175,377 1.45	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94	HL/LH),852 \$127,878 1.06	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81	LL \$83,046 0.69
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD	HH \$175,377 1.45 0.1257	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share	HH \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1%	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0%	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3%	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3%	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5%	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8%
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD	HH \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1%	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0%	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.11	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5%	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8%
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.12 00	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL
2001Overall meanGroup-meanRel. mean incomeBy-group MLDPop shareOverall MLD2006Overall mean	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.12 00 \$125	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006 Overall mean Group-mean	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.12 00 \$125 \$116,647	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589
2001Overall meanGroup-meanRel. mean incomeBy-group MLDPop shareOverall MLD2006Overall meanGroup-meanRel. mean income	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.12 00 \$125 \$116,647 0.93	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.12 00 \$125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347 14.2%	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159 20.6%	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5%	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039 1.6%	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938 16.0%	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977 6.1%
2001Overall meanGroup-meanRel. mean incomeBy-group MLDPop shareOverall MLD2006Overall meanGroup-meanRel. mean incomeBy-group MLDPop shareOverall MLD	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347 14.2%	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159 20.6%	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5% 0.125	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039 1.6% 285	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938 16.0%	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977 6.1%
2001Overall meanGroup-meanRel. mean incomeBy-group MLDPop shareOverall MLD2006Overall meanGroup-meanRel. mean incomeBy-group MLDPop shareOverall MLD	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347 14.2% НН	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159 20.6% HO/OH	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5% 0.12 00	HL/LH 0,852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039 1.6% 285 HL/LH	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938 16.0% OL/LO	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977 6.1% LL
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2013 Overall mean (2013\$)	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347 14.2% НН	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159 20.6% HO/OH	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.11 00 \$125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5% 0.11 00 \$131	HL/LH),852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039 1.6% 285 HL/LH ,754	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938 16.0% OL/LO	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977 6.1% LL
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2013 Overall mean (2013\$) Group-mean	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347 14.2% НН \$172,684	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159 20.6% HO/OH \$145,312	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5% 0.13 00 \$131 \$117,609	HL/LH),852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039 1.6% 285 HL/LH .,754 \$123,541	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938 16.0% OL/LO \$101,156	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977 6.1% LL \$82,252
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2013 Overall mean (2013\$) Group-mean Rel. mean income	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347 14.2% НН \$172,684 1.31	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159 20.6% HO/OH \$145,312 1.10	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5% 0.12 00 \$131 \$117,609 0.89	HL/LH),852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039 1.6% 285 HL/LH .,754 \$123,541 0.94	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938 16.0% OL/LO \$101,156 0.77	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977 6.1% LL \$82,252 0.62
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2013 Overall mean (2013\$) Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347 14.2% НН \$172,684 1.31 0.1391	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159 20.6% HO/OH \$145,312 1.10 0.1180	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.1125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5% 0.1131 \$117,609 0.89 0.1097	HL/LH),852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039 1.6% 285 HL/LH .,754 \$123,541 0.94 0.0978	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938 16.0% OL/LO \$101,156 0.77 0.0900	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977 6.1% LL \$82,252 0.62 0.1045
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2013 Overall mean (2013\$) Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347 14.2% НН \$172,684 1.31 0.1391 18.8%	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159 20.6% HO/OH \$145,312 1.10 0.1180 25.1%	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5% 0.12 00 \$125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5% 0.11 00	HL/LH),852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039 1.6% 285 HL/LH .,754 \$123,541 0.94 0.0978 1.8%	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938 16.0% OL/LO \$101,156 0.77 0.0900 11.4%	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977 6.1% LL \$82,252 0.62 0.1045 3.9%
2001 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2006 Overall mean Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD 2013 Overall mean (2013\$) Group-mean Rel. mean income By-group MLD Pop share Overall MLD	НН \$175,377 1.45 0.1257 10.1% НН \$167,719 1.34 0.1347 14.2% НН \$172,684 1.31 0.1391 18.8%	HO/OH \$149,102 1.23 0.1170 17.0% HO/OH \$144,913 1.16 0.1159 20.6% HO/OH \$145,312 1.10 0.1180 25.1%	00 \$120 \$113,880 0.94 0.1050 45.3% 0.11 00 \$125 \$116,647 0.93 0.1086 41.5% 0.11 00 \$131 \$117,609 0.89 0.1097 39.0% 0.11	HL/LH),852 \$127,878 1.06 0.1142 1.3% 278 HL/LH 5,310 \$125,936 1.00 0.1039 1.6% 285 HL/LH .,754 \$123,541 0.94 0.0978 1.8% 333	OL/LO \$97,652 0.81 0.0931 18.5% OL/LO \$100,984 0.81 0.0938 16.0% OL/LO \$101,156 0.77 0.0900 11.4%	LL \$83,046 0.69 0.0946 7.8% LL \$83,589 0.67 0.0977 6.1% LL \$82,252 0.62 0.1045 3.9%

Table 2: Mean and inequality statistics by couple type in each census period for all urban areas combined

Notes: Results are the mean, relative mean income, MLD and population share for each educational pair and the overall mean income in all urban areas combined in each census period. Abbreviations: HH- two high-educated partners; HO /OH - one high-educated partner and one other-educated partner; OO - two other-educated partners; HL/LH - one high-educated partner and one low-educated partner; OL /LO - one other-educated partner and one one low-educated partner; LL - two low-educated partners

Table 3: Inequality of total income of male-female couples working full-time and aged 25-64 from 1986	to
2013	

Area	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013	Growth 1986-2013
Non-metro	0.0837	0.0999	0.1039	0.1121	0.1109	0.1092	30%
Metro	0.0906	0.1093	0.1194	0.1290	0.1308	0.1372	51%
All urban areas	0.0895	0.1089	0.1179	0.1278	0.1285	0.1333	49%

Notes: Results are MLD by area for each census period from 1986 to 2013. Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas

Table 3 summarises the Mean Log Deviation (MLD) by area from 1986 to 2013. Inequality among couples working full-time is lower than personal income inequality of everyone in the labour force (compare Table 1 and Table 3) but grew faster. In all urban areas combined, inequality in total income of couples grew faster than national total household income inequality reported in Ball and Creedy (2016) and Perry (2017). In all urban areas combined, inequality in total income of couples working full-time grew by around 49 percent between 1986 and 2013 whereas national total household income inequality growth over the same period in Ball and Creedy (2016) is around 14 percent. Spatially, income inequality for full-time couples earning positive income grew in both metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas, with growth between 1986 to 2013 in metropolitan areas (51 percent) higher than in non-metropolitan areas (30 percent).

Our focus in this study is to examine the role of assortative matching in these patterns of inequality. Before we get to the evidence on the contribution of educational assortative matching to inequality in the next section, we provide here descriptive evidence on changes in the educational distribution and rates of assortative matching in all census periods and across the three spatial areas considered.

4.3 Patterns of educational assortative matching among male-female couples in New Zealand

As noted earlier, inter-temporal studies of assortative matching need to account for secular changes in the educational distribution in all urban areas. In Table 4, we show the changes in the educational attainment for males and females in couples²⁷. We begin with all urban areas combined and proceed by examining the differences between metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas.

The secular increase in educational attainment is evident. In 1986, only 9 percent of the individuals who are married or in a de facto relationship could be classified as high-educated. By 2013, this proportion had increased to 32 percent. Educational attainment has risen faster for

²⁷ Tables for Non-metropolitan and Metropolitan Areas are available in Appendix 6 and Appendix 7

females. In 1986, there were 51 percent more males than females that are high-educated, by 2013 this proportion has reversed with 36 percent more females than males²⁸. These changes in the educational distribution are significant and implies that even if underlying rates of assortative matching has not changed, there will be more couples with both having high education simply because there is a huge increase in the number of educated individuals (both males and females).

	Total						
	(Male +	Dron	Mala	Dron	Fomalo	Dron	Ratio of Male /Female
	rematej	гтор	1986	Flop.	remate	Flop	Male/remale
High-Education	20 913	9%	12,588	10%	8 3 2 5	7%	151%
Other-Education	130.974	54%	67.485	56%	63.489	53%	106%
Low-Education	88.902	37%	40.323	33%	48.579	40%	83%
Total specified	240.789	100%	120.393	100%	120.393	100%	
r			1991		-,		
High-Education	28,758	11%	16,329	13%	12,426	10%	131%
Other-Education	157,134	62%	78,474	62%	78,663	62%	100%
Low-Education	69,126	27%	32,706	26%	36,420	29%	90%
Total specified	255,021	100%	127,509	100%	127,512	100%	
			1996				
High-Education	39,495	16%	21,285	17%	18,210	15%	117%
Other-Education	143,787	58%	69,582	56%	74,208	60%	94%
Low-Education	65,754	26%	33,651	27%	32,103	26%	105%
Total specified	249,039	100%	124,521	100%	124,518	100%	
			2001				
High-Education	58,554	19%	28,899	19%	29,658	19%	97%
Other-Education	191,853	63%	93,885	62%	97,971	64%	96%
Low-Education	53,838	18%	29,340	19%	24,495	16%	120%
Total specified	304,245	100%	152,121	100%	152,124	100%	
			2006				
High-Education	100,119	25%	45,429	23%	54,693	28%	83%
Other-Education	236,940	60%	120,261	61%	116,679	59%	103%
Low-Education	59,265	15%	32,475	16%	26,793	14%	121%
Total specified	396,327	100%	198,165	100%	198,162	100%	
			2013				
High-Education	132,855	32%	56,268	27%	76,584	37%	73%
Other-Education	235,983	57%	124,716	61%	111,267	54%	112%
Low-Education	43,350	11%	25,107	12%	18,240	9%	138%
Total specified	412,185	100%	206,094	100%	206,094	100%	

Table 4: Educational distribution for individuals in couples aged 25-64 in all urban areas from 1986 to 2013

Notes: Results are the number and proportion by gender in each educational group in all urban areas combined for each census period. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

²⁸ Note that the figures reported are different from the ones reported in Callister and Didham (2010,2014). Both studies by Callister and Didham focused on the whole population aged 25-34 while we focus on the population aged 25-64 in male-female couples, earning positive income and working fulltime.

In Table 5, we present contingency tables showing in proportions, the actual pairing of couples with respect to their highest educational attainment and in Table 6, we present what the pairing would have been under an assumption of random matching. The random matching contingency tables are the average of 250 replications of randomisation with the standard errors in brackets.²⁹

Female		Male	
	High-education	Other-education	Low-education
	19	986	
High-Education	4.0%	2.5%	0.4%
Other-Education	5.8%	35.1%	11.8%
Low-Education	0.7%	18.4%	21.3%
	19	991	
High-Education	5.7%	3.6%	0.4%
Other-Education	6.7%	43.3%	11.7%
Low-Education	0.5%	14.6%	13.5%
	19	996	
High-Education	8.6%	5.4%	0.7%
Other-Education	7.8%	39.1%	12.7%
Low-Education	0.7%	11.5%	13.6%
	20)01	
High-Education	10.1%	8.6%	0.8%
Other-Education	8.4%	45.3%	10.7%
Low-Education	0.4%	7.8%	7.8%
	20)06	
High-Education	14.2%	12.2%	1.2%
Other-Education	8.3%	41.5%	9.0%
Low-Education	0.4%	7.0%	6.1%
	20)13	
High-Education	18.8%	16.9%	1.5%
Other-Education	8.2%	39.0%	6.8%
Low-Education	0.3%	4.6%	3.9%

Table 5: Actual proportion of couples in each educational pairing from 1986 to 2013: All urban areas combined

Notes: Results are the actual proportion of male-female couples in each educational pairing in all urban areas combined for each census period. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification.

²⁹ Non-metropolitan area tables are available in Appendix 8 and Appendix 9 and Metropolitan area tables in Appendix 10 and Appendix 11.

Random pairing- All urban areas								
Female		Male						
	High-education	Other-education	Low-education					
1986								
High-Education	0.7% (0.02%)	3.9% (0.04%)	2.3% (0.04%)					
Other-Education	5.5% (0.05%)	29.6% (0.07%)	17.7% (0.07%)					
Low-Education	4.2% (0.05%)	22.6% (0.07%)	13.5% (0.07%)					
	199	1						
High-Education	1.3% (0.03%)	6.0% (0.04%)	2.5% (0.04%)					
Other-Education	7.9% (0.05%)	38.0% (0.06%)	15.85% (0.06%)					
Low-Education	3.7% (0.04%)	17.6% (0.06%)	7.35% (0.05%)					
	199	6						
High-Education	2.5% (0.04%)	8.2% (0.05%)	4.0% (0.04%)					
Other-Education	10.2% (0.05%)	33.3% (0.08%)	16.1% (0.07%)					
Low-Education	4.4% (0.05%)	14.4% (0.07%)	7.0% (0.06%)					
	200	1						
High-Education	3.7% (0.04%)	12.0% (0.05%)	3.8% (0.04%)					
Other-Education	12.2% (0.05%)	39.7% (0.06%)	12.4% (0.05%)					
Low-Education	3.1% (0.04%)	9.9% (0.04%)	3.1% (0.04%)					
	200	6						
High-Education	6.3% (0.04%)	16.7% (0.05%)	4.5% (0.04%)					
Other-Education	13.5% (0.05%)	35.7% (0.06%)	9.7% (0.04%)					
Low-Education	3.1% (0.03%)	8.2% (0.04%)	2.2% (0.03%)					
	201	3						
High-Education	10.1% (0.05%)	22.5% (0.06%)	4.5% (0.03%)					
Other-Education	14.7% (0.05%)	32.7% (0.06%)	6.6% (0.03%)					
Low-Education	2.4% (0.03%)	5.4% (0.03%)	1.1% (0.02%)					

Table 6: Proportion of couples in each educational pairing from 1986 to 2013 under randomisation: All urban areas combined

Notes: Results are the proportion of male-female couples in all urban areas combined in each educational pairing in each census period under randomised matching. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

The actual pairings show a relatively large proportion of couples with the same level of educational attainment, i.e. couples along the diagonal. Education-matched couples represent about 60-63% of all couples. Interestingly, there is no clear upward trend in this percentage. Examining changes in the proportions along the diagonal over time will lead to an incorrect conclusion that assortative matching has increased for the high-educated and decreased for the lowly educated. Although the proportion of couples where both partners are high-educated increased from 4 percent in 1983 to 19 percent in 2013, while the proportion of couples with both a low education reduced from 21.3 percent in 1983 to 3.9 percent in 2013, these changes reflect the combined effect of changes in assortative matching and changes in the educational distribution. Indeed, looking at the numbers from the random distribution (Table 6), we find that if matching was entirely random, the proportion of couples where both partners are high-educated will have increased from around 1 percent in 1986 to 10 percent in 2013 while couples

with no qualification will have fallen from 14 percent in 1986 to 1 percent in 2013. Even without assortative matching, changes in the educational distribution would have led to a large increase in the proportion of couples with a high level of education attainment and a reduction of those with low level of education attainment.

To disentangle the changes in educational distribution from the role of assortative matching, the standard approach in the literature is to calculate the concentration ratio i.e. the ratio of the actual to random in each educational pair³⁰. A ratio greater than one is indicative of a greater concentration than would be expected under random matching and evidence of assortative matching. This ratio for all urban areas, reported in Table 7³¹ reveals the extent to which each educational pairings occur above what will have happened if matching was random given the educational distribution. However, we argue that the concentration ratio is rather strongly influenced by the population proportions in relatively rare education pairings and may lead to misleading conclusions on the trend in educational assortative matching.

³⁰ See Callister and Didham (2010,2014) and Greenwood et al. (2014)

³¹ See Appendix 12 for Non-metropolitan ratios and Appendix 13 for Metropolitan ratios

Female		Male	
	High-Education	Other-Education	Low-Education
	1986		
High-Education	5.6	0.7	0.2
Other-Education	1.1	1.2	0.7
Low-Education	0.2	0.8	1.6
	1991		
High-Education	4.5	0.6	0.2
Other-Education	0.8	1.1	0.7
Low-Education	0.1	0.8	1.8
	1996		
High-Education	3.4	0.7	0.2
Other-Education	0.8	1.2	0.8
Low-Education	0.2	0.8	2.0
	2001		
High-Education	2.7	0.7	0.2
Other-Education	0.7	1.1	0.9
Low-Education	0.1	0.8	2.5
	2006		
High-Education	2.2	0.7	0.3
Other-Education	0.6	1.2	0.9
Low-Education	0.1	0.9	2.8
	2013		
High-Education	1.9	0.8	0.3
Other-Education	0.6	1.2	1.0
Low-Education	0.1	0.9	3.6

Table 7: Concentration ratio: All urban areas combined

Notes: Results are the concentration ratio i.e. ratio of actual proportion to random proportion of malefemale couples in each educational group in each census period for all urban areas combined. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

We can conclude from Table 7 that between 1986 and 2013, assortative matching fell sizeably –relative to random sorting – for the high-educated pairs (from 5.6 to 1.9), remained constant for the other-educated pairs (from 1.2 to 1.2) and increased considerably for the low-educated pairs (from 1.6 to 3.6). This conclusion may however be misleading. The concentration ratio for groups with large population proportions will have a smaller range than for groups with small proportions and thus it is easier to conclude that smaller groups have bigger changes.

To see this clearly, let us assume, for ease of explanation, a contingency table with just 2 groups: high-educated and low-educated. The minimum the concentration ratio can be is 0, i.e. if the frequency of a pairing is zero. It will be 1 when, the actual proportion is equal to random proportion. However, the maximum value of the concentration ratio depends on the maximum possible homogamy that can be achieved given the educational distribution.

 $Max \ concentration \ ratio = \frac{Max \ Homogamy}{Random}$

The maximum homogamy for each pair is the minimum of the male and female population proportion in that pair i.e. if there are 20 percent males with high education and 15 percent females with high education, the maximum possible proportion of people in the high-education pair (maximum homogamy) is 15 percent. In general, max homogamy= Min[P(F_H)), P(M_H))]. Under random matching, the proportion of people in the high-educated group is P(F_H) * P(M_H).

Since maximum homogamy is the minimum of the male and female proportions in that pair, the maximum possible value for the concentration ratio will be the inverse of the group with the larger proportions. ³²

This implies that:

- The ratio will be larger when both groups are small.
- If one or both groups are large, the ratio will be small

Since ratios are influenced by the population proportion, this may affect the conclusion we draw on the rates and trend in assortative matching. This has implications for our New Zealand data - the other-educated group has a large population proportion (see Table 5) and will always have smaller ratios compared to the other groups that have smaller proportions. Focusing on changes in the concentration ratios over time, may lead to incorrect conclusions on the trends of educational assortative matching.

Due to the effect population proportions can have on the concentration ratio, we propose a new measure of assortative matching. Our proposed index is calculated as :

 $Index = \frac{Actual - Random}{Max \ homogamy - Random}$

³² For example, if $P(F_H) < P(M_H)$ then the Max Homogamy fraction equals $P(F_H)$ and the random fraction equals $P(F_H) * P(M_H)$. Therefore the Max concentration ratio = $P(F_H)/(P(F_H)*P(M_H)) = 1/P(M_H)$. Similarly, when $P(F_H) > P(M_H)$, the Max concentration ratio is $1/P(F_H)$)).

As described previously, *Max Homogamy* is the maximum possible pairing for each educational pair. For example, in 1986, in all urban areas about 7 percent of the population were high-educated females and 10 percent were high-educated males, the maximum possible pairing for high-educated in this year is 7 percent i.e. if all high-educated people were partnered to each other, we would only have 7 percent of the population in the high-educated pair. Our index normalises the calculation of concentration in each educational pair and is not influenced by the population proportions. It will range between 0 and 1 for the same educational pairings (along the diagonals) ³³. Our index is equal to 0 if matching is entirely random and equal to 1 under if actual patterns of matching are equal to what will happen under maximum homogamy.

Like the concentration ratio reported in Table 7, we calculate our index for all educational pairs in all urban areas in Table 8 with standard errors in brackets.^{34,35}. Our interest is in the diagonals (pairs with the same education).

³³ It is possible to get negative values for our index on the off-diagonal cells. Negative values on the offdiagonal cells are consistent with assortative matching while positive values in the off-diagonals are consistent with non-assortative matching, or even disassortative matching, which may also occur concurrently with assortative matching.

³⁴ See Appendix 14 for Non-metropolitan areas and Appendix 15 for Metropolitan areas

³⁵ Standard errors are the standard deviations from 250 replications of randomisation.

Female		Male								
	High-education	Other-education	Low-education							
	1986	ó								
High-Education	0.53	-0.44	-0.42							
	(0.2%)	(1.8%)	(1.1%)							
Other-Education	0.06	0.24	-0.37							
	(0.9%)	(0.2%)	(0.6%)							
Low-Education	-0.57	-0.24	0.39							
	(1.2%)	(0.5%)	(0.2%)							
1991										
High-Education	0.52	-0.63	-0.29							
	(0.2%)	(1.8%)	(0.7%)							
Other-Education	-0.25	0.23	-0.42							
	(1.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.8%)							
Low-Education	-0.35	-0.27	0.34							
	(0.6%)	(0.7%)	(0.2%)							
	1996	<u>ó</u>								
High-Education	0.50	-0.44	-0.30							
	(0.2%)	(1.1%)	(0.5%)							
Other-Education	-0.35	0.26	-0.31							
	(1.1%)	(0.2%)	(0.8%)							
Low-Education	-0.29	-0.26	0.35							
	(0.5%)	(0.7%)	(0.2%)							
	2001									
High-Education	0.42	-0.47	-0.19							
	(0.2%)	(1.0%)	(0.3%)							
Other-Education	-0.56	0.25	-0.26							
	(1.1%)	(0.2%)	(0.9%)							
Low-Education	-0.20	-0.34	0.36							
	(0.3%)	(1.0%)	(0.2%)							
	2006	<u>5</u>								
High-Education	0.47	-0.42	-0.28							
	(0.1%)	(0.6%)	(0.4%)							
Other-Education	-0.55	0.25	-0.09							
	(0.8%)	(0.2%)	(0.6%)							
Low-Education	-0.26	-0.23	0.35							
	(0.4%)	(1.0%)	(0.2%)							
	2013	}								
High-Education	0.50	-0.38	-0.40							
	(0.1%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)							
Other-Education	-0.52	0.30	0.04							
	(0.6%)	(0.2%)	(0.6%)							
Low-Education	-0.33	-0.21	0.37							
	(0.6%)	(1.1%)	(0.2%)							

Table 8: Assortative matching index by educational group: All urban areas combined

Notes: Results are the educational assortative matching index calculated as $\frac{Actual-Random}{Max\ homogamy-Random}$ for each educational pairing for all urban areas combined in each census period. Standard errors in brackets (standard errors are the standard deviation of 250 replications of randomisation). High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

As in Table 7, we conclude on the basis of our relative homogamy index that assortative matching of those with high-education has declined and of those with other-education has increased, when comparing 1986 with 2013. However, contrary to the results from the concentration ratio, between 1986 and 2013,our index shows that assortative matching declined for the low-educated. In all cases, the index changes are relatively small as compared with the concentration ratio changes that suggested dramatic shifts in assortative matching. For the high-educated, our index declines from 0.53 in 1986 to 0.50 in 2013. For the low-educated, it declines from 0.39 in 1986 to 0.37 in 2013, while it increased from 0.24 to 0.30 for the other-educated. Our results are partially consistent with evidence from the US in Eika et al. (2014) which reports decreasing level of assortative matching among college graduates ³⁶. However, they report increasing assortative matching among those with no high school degree whereas in the NZ case assortative matching among the low-educated appears to be declining. Our findings are contrary to public commentary which suggest increases in assortative matching in recent years, especially for those at the top of the educational distribution³⁷.

Table 9 presents the index for the diagonal educational pairs for all areas (standard errors in brackets). Besides the diagonal educational pairs, we also compute a composite measure of assortative matching in each period. This is calculated as the weighted average of the diagonal index in each same education pair (along the diagonals) and the weights are the actual proportion of each educational pair in the actual distribution.

³⁶ Chiappori, Salanie and Weiss (2017) reports increased assortative matching for high-educated Whites in the US.

³⁷ For popular media, see the Cowen (2015) article in the *New York Times* and the Worstall (2015) article in the *Forbes* magazine.

Educational assortative matching index										
		Non-met	ro							
	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013				
High-Education	0.53	0.50	0.46	0.37	0.42	0.47				
	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)				
Other-Education	0.23	0.22	0.24	0.22	0.18	0.21				
	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)				
Low-Education	0.35	0.30	0.33	0.34	0.31	0.33				
	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)				
All (Composite)	0.29	0.26	0.28	0.26	0.23	0.27				
	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)				
Metro										
High-Education	0.53	0.52	0.51	0.42	0.47	0.50				
	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)				
Other-Education	0.24	0.23	0.26	0.26	0.27	0.31				
	(0.3%)	(0.2%)	(0.3%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)				
Low-Education	0.40	0.35	0.36	0.37	0.35	0.38				
	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)				
All (Composite)	0.32	0.28	0.32	0.30	0.33	0.38				
	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)				
		All urban a	reas							
High-Education	0.53	0.52	0.50	0.42	0.47	0.50				
	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.1%)	(0.1%)				
Other-Education	0.24	0.23	0.26	0.25	0.25	0.30				
	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)				
Low-Education	0.39	0.34	0.35	0.36	0.35	0.37				
	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)				
All (Composite)	0.31	0.28	0.31	0.29	0.31	0.36				
	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)				

Table 9: Assortative matching index by educational group for all areas

Notes: Results are the educational assortative matching index for couples with same level of education in each period. Index is calculated as : $\frac{Actual-Random}{Max\ homogamy-Random}$. Standard errors in brackets (standard errors are the standard deviation of 250 replications of randomisation). High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

The composite index indicate overall increases in assortative matching in all urban area from 0.31 in 1986 to 0.36 in 2013. As shown by educational group, this increase is due to changes in the other-educated group (0.24 to 0.30) rather than changes for the high-educated or low-educated.

Spatially, between 1986 and 2013, assortative matching fell in non-metropolitan areas while it rose in metropolitan areas. In both areas, the changes in assortative matching are similar for the high-educated and the low-educated: assortative matching fell. Nonetheless, there are some differences between metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas: firstly, assortative matching increased for the other-educated group in metropolitan areas contrary to nonmetropolitan areas where it fell. The increase in assortative matching for the other-educated group in metropolitan areas meant assortative matching increased overall in metropolitan areas. It is the increase in assortative matching for the other-educated in metropolitan-areas that actually drove the overall rise in assortative matching in all urban areas combined. Secondly, apart from 1986, in each educational group, assortative matching was higher in metropolitan areas than non-metropolitan areas and the difference across areas seem to be growing over time especially for high-educated and other-educated. This is unsurprising given that young educated people are attracted to metropolitan areas and in New Zealand, the metropolitan areas are also locations of universities which may function as a meet-market.

Figure 1 summarises the trend in assortative matching in by area in all periods.



Figure 1: Assortative matching index for couples with same category of education by area in all periods

Notes: Figure 1 presents educational assortative matching index for couples with same level of education in each area in each census period. Index calculated as $\frac{Actual-Random}{Max\ homogamy-Random}$. Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas

To conclude on the descriptive patterns of educational assortative matching in New Zealand, in all urban areas, we find evidence of increasing rates of educational assortative matching over time driven by increases in the assortative matching for the other-educated. By educational group, assortative matching has declined for both the high-educated and loweducated groups. Spatially, we find higher and incressing rates of assortative matching in metropolitan areas compared to non-metropolitan areas.

As well as educational assortative matching, we examine occupational assortative matching over the 1986 to 2013 period. This is useful in the present context because occupation

is a strong predictor of income. We use a consistent 1-digit classification of occupations of the 1999 New Zealand Standard Classification of Occupations in all census periods³⁸. We use our new index to examine the overall trend in occupational assortative matching in each census period by area³⁹. We report the composite occupational assortative matching index by area in Table 10.

Occupational assortative matching index									
Non-metropolitan									
	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013			
All (Composite)	0.29	0.28	0.25	0.24	0.20	0.19			
	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)			
		Metropo	olitan						
All (Composite)	0.24	0.24	0.22	0.21	0.19	0.17			
	(0.2%)	(0.1%)	(0.2%)	(0.1%)	(0.1%)	(0.1%)			
All urban areas									
All (Composite)	0.26	0.25	0.23	0.22	0.19	0.18			
	(0.1%)	(0.1%)	(0.1%)	(0.1%)	(0.1%)	(0.1%)			

Table 10: Assortative matching index of occupational pairings of couples from 1986 to 2013 by area

Notes: Results are the occupational assortative matching index for couples with same occupational classification in each census period by area. Index is calculated as : $\frac{Actual-Random}{Max\ homogamy-Random}$. Standard errors are the standard deviations from 250 replications of randomisation. Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas

Unlike educational assortative matching, occupational assortative matching has decreased over time in all areas. Spatially, occupation assortative matching is higher in non-metropolitatan areas than metropolitan areas which is also contrary to the results from educational assortative matching. Apart from 1986, educational assortative matching is higher than occupational assortative matching in all areas. This result possibly reflects the diversity of economic opportunities in the metropolitan areas compared to non-metropolitan areas and is consistent with the co-location hypothesis of Costa and Kahn (2000). If cities solve the co-location problem of highly educated couples by offering more potential job matches, permiting specialisation and offering a wide range of economic activities, then we may expect education assortative matching to be higher than occupation assortative matching.

³⁸ The 1- digit classifies occupation into 9 categories - Legislators, Administrators and Managers; Professionals; Technicians and Associate Professionals; Clerks; Service and Sales Workers; Agriculture and Fishery Workers; Trades Workers; Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers, and Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

³⁹ In Appendix 16 and Appendix 17, we present the actual occupational parings for all urban areas respectively. Actual and random occupational pairings for Non-metropolitan areas are presented in Appendix 18 and Appendix 19 and Appendix 20 and 21 present the actual and random occupational areas for Metropolitan areas. Appendix 22,23 and 24 presents our assortative matching index for all urban areas, non-metropolitan areas, and metropolitan areas respectively.

Given these results, in the next section, we link assortative matching to the income distribution and examine the implications of the patterns of assortative matching for income inequality from 1986 to 2013 and across areas.

4.4 The impact of assortative matching on income inequality among couples working full-time in New Zealand

In this section we examine what the patterns and trends in assortative matching discussed in the previous section imply for the distribution of income. Even when we find evidence that rates of educational assortative matching have not changed much, the effect on inequality might be different over time. Other factors like returns to education might interact with patterns of partnering and influence its implications for income inequality. For example, with increasing returns to education, the gap between high-educated couples and those with no education may increase even when the underlying patterns of assortative matching has not changed⁴⁰.

To show evidence of assortative matching on income inequality for male-female couples participating in the labour force, we compare the Mean Log Deviation (MLD) in the observed distribution to the MLD in the random counterfactual distribution. The Mean Log Deviation is defined as $\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N} ln\bar{x} - lnx_i$ in which N is the number of couples, \bar{x} is the average income of all couples and x_i is the income of couple *i* (defined by the respective education levels of each partner and by their location). It is useful to note that *MLD* in invariant to the total number of couples if the relative frequencies remain constant and to the unit of measurement of income (e.g. nominal or real).

The MLDs for the random counterfactual distribution are average of 250 replications of randomisation with standard errors reported in brackets. For each census period and area, we simulate the randomisation 250 different times and report the average of the MLD from all the 250 different distributions. The standard errors are quite small and ranged from (0.02% to 0.04%). We can be confident on the estimated differences between the actual MLD and each of the counterfactual distributions. Our data is from the total population and not surveys like most other studies and this helps to pinpoint our estimates.

If inequality in the random distribution is lower (higher) than the actual distribution, this implies that the assortative matching is income inequality-increasing (inequality-reducing). Table 11 presents the results of the comparison of MLDs for the actual and random distribution for each area and in Figure 2 we plot the role of assortative matching over time (difference in MLDs between the actual and counterfactual random distribution).

⁴⁰ Furthermore, assortative matching will have a multiplicative effect on household income. Percentage change in household income = percentage change in male income + percentage change in female income. When there is educational assortative matching and the rate of return to education increases, inequality in household income grows faster than inequality in individual income.

I	Non-metr	opolitan						
25-64	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013	Change s betwee	
Observed	0.083	0 000	0 1 0 3	0 1 1 2	0.110	0 1 0 9	n 1986	
observed	0.063	0.080	0.084	0.090	0.088	0.087	28%	
Unconditional randomisation	5	3	4	3	9	7		
Standard errors	(0.03 %)	(0.04 %)	(0.04 %)	(0.03 %)	(0.03 %)	(0.03 %)		
Effect of assortative matching (MLD	0.015	0.019	0.019	0.021	0.022	0.021	0.0063	
points)	2	6	5	8	0	5		
Effect as a proportion of observed inequality	18%	20%	19%	19%	20%	20%		
Metropolitan								
Observed	0.090	0.109	0.119	0.129	0.130	0.137	51%	
	6	3	4	0 4 0 0	8	2		
Unconditional randomisation	0.071	0.085	0.094	0.100	0.099	0.104	46%	
	9	5	8 (0.02	0	2 (0.02	8 (0.02		
Standard errors	(0.02 04)	(U.UZ 04)	(U.UZ 04)	(0.02 04)	(0.02 04)	(U.UZ 04)		
Effect of assortative matching (MLD	^{%)}	^{%)}	⁹⁰ 0.024	^{%)}	^{%)}	%) 0.032	0.0137	
points)	7	8	6	4	6	4	010107	
Effect as a proportion of observed	21%	22%	21%	22%	24%	24%		
inequality								
All u	<u>rban are</u>	as combi	ned	0.405	0.400	0 4 0 0 0	100/	
Observed	0.089	0.108	0.117	0.127	0.128	0.1333	49%	
	5 0 071	9	9	8 0 1 0 0	5	0 1026	1106	
Unconditional randomisation	5	0.085 4	0.095	0.100	0.098 4	0.1020	44%	
	(0.02	(0.02	(0.02	(0.02	(0.02	(0.02%)		
Standard errors	%)	%)	%)	%)	%)	(0.0 = 70)		
Effect of assortative matching (MLD	0.018	0.023	0.024	0.027	0.030	0.0307	0.01	
points)	0	5	1	8	1		27	
Effect as a proportion of observed inequality	20%	22%	21%	22%	23%	23%		

Table 11: Effect of educational assortative matching on the distribution of income of couples working fulltime in each Census period by area: MLDs

Notes: Results are the MLD measure of inequality for the actual and the randomised counterfactual distribution of income of couples working full-time in each census period. Standard errors in brackets and are the standard deviations from 250 replications of randomisation. Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas





Notes: Figure 2 shows the difference between the MLD for the actual and the randomised counterfactual distribution. The difference represents the effect of assortativ ematching on the distribution of income. Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas

Table 11 shows that assortative matching has a notable impact on income inequality. In all urban areas combined, the effect of assortative matching on income inequality in all period ranges from 0.0180 MLD points in 1986 to 0.0307 MLD points in 2013. To put in context, these numbers represent 20 percent of actual observed inequality in 1986 and 23 percent in 2013.

Reflecting the higher rates of assortative matching in metropolitan areas, it had a larger inequality-increasing impact in metropolitan areas than non-metropolitan areas. Also reflecting the increase in assortative in metropolitan areas between 1986 and 2013, the inequality-increasing effect also rose more in metropolitan areas than non-metropolitan areas. This is factor that has contributed to the growing differences in income inequality between metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas reported in earlier New Zealand research (e.g. Alimi et al. 2016).

Due to differences in measures of inequality, the MLD results are not directly comparable with evidence from the US and certain European countries in Eika et al. (2014) and Greenwood et al. (2014). These studies report smaller effects of assortative matching on inequality. Eika et al. (2014) found assortative matching contributed 2 percent in 1980 and 5 percent in 2007 while Greenwood (2014) reported the effect of assortative matching to be around 2 percent of actual inequality in both 1960 and 2005. Using Ginis as in these studies, we find that the

contribution of assortative matching in New Zealand ranges from 9 percent in 1986 to 11 percent of actual inequality in 2013.

Table 12 reports both Ginis and MLDs used to estimate the effect of assortative matching for all couples participating in the labour force i.e full-time, part-time and unemployed.

Full-time (Gini)									
	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013	Growth 1986- 2013		
Actual	0.226	0.252	0.265	0.278	0.276	0.280	24%		
Unconditional randomisation	0.204 9	0.226 6	0.239 0	0.248 5	0.246 1	0.250 3	22%		
Effect of AM	0.021	0.025	0.026	0.029	0.03	0.029			
Effect as a prop of actual	9%	10%	10%	11%	11%	11%			
All labour force (Gini)									
Actual	0.267 7	0.309 5	0.315 9	0.323 1	0.319 3	0.326 1	22%		
Unconditional randomisation	0.258 6	0.292	0.287	0.293 4	0.295	0.304 7	18%		
Effect of AM	0.009 1	0.017 5	0.028 3	0.029 7	0.023 5	0.021 4			
Effect as a prop of actual	3%	6%	9%	9%	7%	7%			
		All lab	our force	(MLD)					
Actual	0.121 6	0.164 9	0.171 9	0.179 2	0.181 5	0.191 6	58%		
Unconditional randomisation	0.115 4	0.149 1	0.137 6	0.142 5	0.150 4	0.160 6	39%		
Effect of AM	0.006 2	0.015 8	0.034 3	0.036 6	0.031 1	0.031			
Effect as a prop of actual	5%	10%	20%	20%	17%	16%			

Table 12: Effect of educational assortative matching on the distribution of income of couples working fulltime and everyone in the labour force Ginis and MLD

Notes: Results are the Gini and MLD measure of inequality for the actual and the randomised distribution of income of couples working full-time and all labour force (full-time employed, part-time employed, and unemployed) in each census period.

Using the same measure of inequality, namely the Gini coefficient, the effect of assortative matching in New Zealand is greater than the US. This may be because we focus on the population working full-time while these other studies do not restrict the labour force status. We already show that within-group inequality is higher for those working full-time. Also, by focusing on those working full-time, we limit to some extent the effect of endogenous joint labour supply responses. Endogenous joint labour supply responses are likely to dampen the effect of assortative matching on inequality (see Pestel, 2017). Indeed when we do not restrict to those working full-time and focus on the total population aged 25 to 64 earning positive income, we find lower effects of assortative matching of between 3 and 7 percent using Ginis and 5 and 16

percent using Mean Log Deviations (see Table 12). The difference in the reference population between our studies and these studies means care needs to be taken before concluding that assortative matching contributes more to inequality in New Zealand than the US⁴¹. We know that partnering isn't entirely random and couples sort based on certain observable and unobservable characteristics. We account for sorting on these characteristics by preserving the actual distribution of these characteristics of couples in our randomised counterfactuals. We condition based on age, education, and location as well as combinations of these factors. For example, in our age-conditional randomisation, we preserve the age distribution of couples i.e. this counterfactual distribution is based on randomisation of partners but we partner people up with another random partner with the exact same age as their actual partner. In Table 13, we presents the results of the actual, unconditional, and the difference between the unconditional randomisation and each of the conditional randomisations. As with the descriptive statistics on randomisation, the randomisation results are the average of 250 replications of randomisation. The standard errors for these results are small and ranged from 0.01% to 0.04%, so we can be quite confident on the estimated differences between actual MLD and each of the counterfactual distributions.

⁴¹ Greenwood et al. (2014) focused on singles and married couples aged 25-54 and Eika et al. (2014) focused on husband and wife couples earning positive income with mean age between 26 and 60 years.

	Nor	n-metropoli	itan						
Distribution	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013			
Actual	0.0837	0.0999	0.1039	0.1121	0.1109	0.1092			
Unconditional randomisation	0.0685	0.0803	0.0844	0.0903	0.0889	0.0877			
Difference between the unconditional randomisation and conditional randomisation									
Age conditional	-0.0002	+0.0000	+0.0001	+0.0004	+0.0004	+0.0006			
Education conditional	+0.0023	+0.0034	+0.0036	+0.0038	+0.0032	+0.0028			
Age and Education conditional	+0.0024	+0.0037	+0.0041	+0.0045	+0.0041	+0.0042			
Location conditional	+0.0005	+0.0007	+0.0007	+0.0008	+0.0006	+0.0007			
Age, education and location conditional	+0.0037	+0.0055	+0.0061	+0.0064	+0.0058	+0.0060			
Maximum Assortative Matching	+0.0364	+0.0533	+0.0399	+0.0465	+0.0393	+0.0370			
Maximum disassortative matching	-0.0207	-0.0288	-0.0243	-0.0307	-0.0392	-0.0283			
	N	1etropolita	n						
Distribution	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013			
Actual	0.0906	0.1093	0.1194	0.1290	0.1308	0.1372			
Unconditional randomisation	0.0719	0.0855	0.0948	0.1006	0.0992	0.1048			
Difference between the	uncondition	al randomis	ation and co	nditional ra	ndomisation	l			
Age conditional	-0.0003	0.0000	+0.0001	+0.0002	+0.0004	+0.0011			
Education conditional	+0.0035	+0.0050	+0.0050	+0.0047	+0.0039	+0.0041			
Age and Education conditional	+0.0034	+0.0051	+0.0055	+0.0053	+0.0049	+0.0062			
Location conditional	+0.0011	+0.0020	+0.0022	+0.0027	+0.0023	+0.0021			
Age, education and location conditional	+0.0044	+0.0067	+0.0072	+0.0073	+0.0067	+0.0079			
Maximum assortative matching	+0.0341	+0.0441	+0.0508	+0.0612	+0.0476	+0.0455			
Maximum disassortative matching	-0.0229	-0.0324	-0.0320	-0.0341	-0.0277	-0.0326			
	Al	l urban are	as						
Distribution	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013			
Actual	0.0895	0.1089	0.1179	0.1278	0.1285	0.1333			
Unconditional randomisation	0.0715	0.0854	0.0937	0.1000	0.0984	0.1026			
Difference between the	uncondition	al randomis	ation and co	nditional ra	ndomisation	l			
Age conditional	-0.0003	-0.0001	+0.0001	+0.0002	+0.0003	+0.0009			
Education conditional	+0.0033	+0.0048	+0.0049	+0.0049	+0.0041	+0.0042			
Age and Education conditional	+0.0033	+0.0050	+0.0054	+0.0055	+0.0050	+0.0061			
Location conditional	+0.0013	+0.0025	+0.0027	+0.0033	+0.0028	+0.0026			
Age, education and location conditional	+0.0045	+0.0072	+0.0078	+0.0082	+0.0074	+0.0083			
Maximum assortative matching	+0.0352	+0.0472	+0.0484	+0.0584	+0.0463	+0.0443			
Maximum disassortative matching	-0.0240	-0.0323	-0.0310	-0.0503	-0.0303	-0.0300			

Table 13: Effect of educational assortative matching on the distribution of income of couples working full-time under unconditional and conditional randomisations using MLDs by area

Notes: Results are the MLD measure of inequality for the actual and unconditional randomised distributions, and the difference in the MLD measure of the unconditional distribution and the conditional-randomised distribution. All distributions are for couples working full-time in each census period. Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas

Our conditional randomisation indicates the role sorting on these observed characteristics play in inequality. We compare all conditional randomisations with the unconditional randomisation in each period. If the conditional randomisation results are higher than the unconditional randomisation, this implies that the observed pattern of sorting on this characteristic is inequality-increasing i.e. the way people sort on this characteristic increases inequality more than if sorting on this characteristics was random. Apart from a few exceptions in the age-conditional randomisation⁴², in all variants of our conditional randomisation, inequality is higher in the conditional distributions than the purely random unconditional distribution. Hence, inequality increases when we preserve the observed distribution of these characteristics. The effects are smaller in non-metropolitan areas than metropolitan areas⁴³.

The conditional counterfactuals show that patterns of age sorting are almost always inequality-increasing in all periods and all areas. The exceptions are in in 1986. Unsurprisingly, patterns of sorting on education are inequality-increasing and larger in magnitude than age sorting in all areas. We also find that location is important, patterns of sorting on location is inequality-increasing and has bigger effects than age sorting but less than education sorting. In all urban areas, inequality in the counterfactual distribution that preserves the actual distribution of all three factors is around 85 percent of actual inequality in 1986 but 83 percent in 2013. This indicates that sorting on unobservable characteristics is also important and has become slightly more important over time.

Finally, we follow Kuhn and Ravazzini (2017) and consider two counterfactual distributions that assume extreme level of assortative matching. We sort individuals in couples based on our ordinal measure of education and income (income bands). In the maximum assortative matching counterfactual, we match the highest educated males in the highest income bands to females with the highest education in the highest income band, and so on. This gives us an estimate of what inequality would look like under extreme maximum assortative matching. Conversely, we match the highest educated-highest income males to the lowest educated-lowest-income females and so on for an estimate of maximum disassortative matching. The results show the potential of assortative matching are around double that under minimum assortative matching⁴⁴. These are reported in the last 2 rows of the results by area in Table 13.

 ⁴²In 1986 and 1991, patterns of age sorting are inequality-decreasing in all areas combined
⁴³ The only exception is in age randomisation in 2001

⁴⁴ Although actual inequality is closer to the results under maximum assortative matching than maximum disassortative matching, this effect isn't purely due to assortative matching as results under pure randomisation are closer to maximum assortative matching than maximum disassortative as well. The actual results are closer to maximum assortative matching than maximum disassortative because income does not follow a normal distribution but is rightly skewed (see Kuhn and Ravazzini, 2017).

5 Conclusion

The changes in the distribution of income in most western countries continue to receive considerable attention. While most of the focus has been on the role of economic variables, there is growing evidence that socio-demographic factors have been crucial as well.

One socio-demographic factor that is important to household income is the role of education assortative matching. Patterns of partnering will have a direct effect on household income. Early studies of assortative matching and popular opinion have suggested that there has been an increase in assortative matching over time, especially at the top of the educational distribution. In this chapter we examined the patterns of assortative matching for couples working full time in New Zealand. We find that rates of assortative matching have increased. However, and contrary to earlier evidence and popular discourse, assortative matching has fallen at the top and bottom of the educational distribution but increased in the middle (othereducated). Earlier studies of assortative matching often just took increases in correlation of levels of education between couples or changes in the proportion of couples with similar levels of education as evidence of assortative matching. These methods did not account for secular changes in the educational distribution and often failed to differentiate the impact of changes in educational distribution and changes in rates of assortative matching. Changes in educational distribution will influence the corrrelation of educational achievement between couples or observed proportions of couples with identical levels of education.

Accounting for secular changes in the distribution of education using a counterfactual randomisation approach, our study provides evidence from the New Zealand context. The New Zealand context is unique because, unlike the US and Europe, New Zealand has a combination of increasing inequality, increasing educational attainment but a low and falling educational premium. We take an accounting approach and link assortative matching to inequality.

Although our study did not account for all possible endogenous labour supply issues through formal modelling, we limit endogenous joint labour supply responses by focusing on those working full-time. We find that educational assortative matching has slightly increased in all urban areas and spatially, educational assortative matching is higher in metropolitan areas where it increased over the 1986 to 2013 period than in non-metropolitan areas where it decreased over this period.

We find that assortative matching has had a non-neglible effect on the distribution of total income of male-female couples in New Zealand. We go beyond the national level analysis of educational assortative matching in most studies and take a spatial approach. We find notable variation by area. Assortative matching and its impact on the distribution of income is larger and rose faster in metropolitan than non-metropolitan areas.

41

Finally, partnering is selective on certain observable and unobservable characteristics. We present evidence on the role of sorting on education, age and location and also by simulating extreme levels of assortative matching, we show that assortative matching has a large potential to affect the distribution of income.

References

- Alimi, O., Maré, D.C. & Poot, J. (2016). Income inequality in New Zealand regions. In: P. Spoonley (Eds.), Rebooting the regions: Why low or zero growth needn't mean the end of prosperity (pp. 177-212). Auckland, New Zealand: Massey University Press.
- Alimi, O., Maré, D. C., & Poot, J. (2018a). More pensioners, less income inequality? The impact of changing age composition on inequality in big cities and elsewhere. In U. Blien, K. Kourtit, P. Nijkamp & R. Stough (Eds.), *Modelling aging and migration effects on spatial labor markets*. Berlin, Springer Verlag. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-68563-2
- Alimi, O., Maré, D. C., & Poot,J. (2018b). *How does immigration affect metropolitan and non-metropolitan income distributions? Some New Zealand findings*. Unpublished Manuscript. Hamilton, New Zealand: National Institute of Demographic and Economic Analysis.
- Autor, D. H., Levy, F., & Murnane, R. J. (2003). The skill content of recent technological change: An empirical exploration. *Quarterly Journal of Economics, 118*(4), 1279-1333.
- Ball, C., & Creedy, J. (2016). Inequality in New Zealand 1983/84 to 2012/13. *New Zealand Economic Papers*, *50*(3), 323-342.
- Becker, G. S. (1973). A theory of marriage: Part I. Journal of Political economy, 81(4), 813-846.
- Becker, G. (1981). A treatise on the family. Boston, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Blackburn, M., & Bloom, D. (1987). Earnings and income inequality in the United States. *Population and Development Review, 13*(4), 575-609. doi:10.2307/1973024
- Blackburn, M. L., & Bloom, D. E. (1994). *Changes in the structure of family income inequality in the United States and other industrial nations during the 1980s* (No. w4754). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Blossfeld, H. P., & Timm, A. (2003). Assortative mating in cross-national comparison: A summary of results and conclusions. In H. P. Blossfeld, & A.Timm. (Eds.), *Who marries whom: Educational systems as marriage markets in modern societies* (pp.331-342). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Blossfeld, H. P. (2009). Educational assortative marriage in comparative perspective. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *35*, 513-530.
- Blum, B. S. (2008). Trade, technology, and the rise of the service sector: The effects on US wage inequality. *Journal of International Economics*, 74(2), 441-458.
- Bourguignon, F. (1979). Decomposable income inequality measures. *Econometrica*, 47(4), 901-920. doi:10.2307/1914138
- Breen, R., & Andersen, S. H. (2012). Educational assortative mating and income inequality in Denmark. *Demography*, 49(3), 867-887.
- Breen, R., & Salazar, L. (2011). Educational assortative mating and earnings inequality in the United States. *American Journal of Sociology*, *117*(3), 808-843.
- Burtless, G. (1999). Effects of growing wage disparities and changing family composition on the US income distribution. *European Economic Review*, 43(4-6), 853-865.
- Callister, P., & Didham, R. (2010). The 'meet market': A research update. *New Zealand Population Review*, *36*, 103-115.
- Callister, P., & Didham, R. (2014). *The New Zealand 'Meet Market': 2013 census update*. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272170452_The_New_Zealand_'Meet_Market'_2013_censu s_update
- Cancian, M., Danziger, S., & Gottschalk, P. (1993). The changing contributions of men and women to the level and distribution of family income, 1968–88. In D.B. Papadimitriou & E.N.Wolff (Eds.), *Poverty and prosperity in the USA in the late twentieth century* (pp. 317-354). London, England: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Cancian, M., & Reed, D. (1998). Assessing the effects of wives' earnings on family income inequality. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 80(1), 73-79.
- Cancian, M., & Reed, D. (1999). The impact of wives' earnings on income inequality: Issues and estimates. *Demography*, *36*(2), 173-184.

- Chiappori, P. A., Salanié, B., & Weiss, Y. (2017). Partner choice, investment in children, and the marital college premium. *American Economic Review*, *107*(8), 2109-2167.
- Collins, S. (2014, August 29). Poll finds rich-poor gap is the big election issue. *NZ Herald*. Retrieved from http://www.nzherald.co.nz/
- Cowen, T. (2015, December 24). The Marriages of power couples reinforce income inequality. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from: https://www.nytimes.com/
- Easton, B. (2013). Economic inequality in New Zealand: A user's guide. *The New Zealand Sociology 28*(3): 9-66.
- Edwards, B. (2017, January 18). Political Roundup: New Zealand's obsession with inequality. *NZ Herald*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.nzherald.co.nz</u>
- Eika, L., Mogstad, M., & Zafar, B. (2014). *Educational assortative mating and household income inequality* (Staff Report, Federal Reserve Bank of New York, No.682). New York, NY: Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
- Ermisch, J., Francesconi, M., & Siedler, T. (2006). Intergenerational mobility and marital sorting. *The Economic Journal*, *116*(513), 659-679.
- Frémeaux, N., & Lefranc, A. (2017). *Assortative mating and earnings inequality in France* (No. 11084). Bonn, Germany: Institute for the Study of Labor.
- Gihleb, R., & Lang, K. (2016). *Educational homogamy and assortative mating have not increased* (No. w22927). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Greenwood, J., Guner, N., Kocharkov, G., & Santos, C. (2014). Marry your like: Assortative mating and income inequality. *American Economic Review*, *104*(5), 348-353. doi:10.1257/aer.104.5.348
- Hakak, L., & Firpo, S. (2017). *Household income inequality and education in marriage market in Brazil: An empirical study*. Retrieved from https://www.fea.usp.br/sites/default/files/anexo-evento/chapter2_article_new_version_3_15.pdf
- Harmenberg, K. (2014). *A note: The effect of assortative mating on income inequality*. Retrieved from https://www.iies.su.se/polopoly_fs/1.199470.1408005767!/menu/standard/file/note.pdf
- Henze, P. (2014). Structural change and wage inequality: Evidence from German micro data.(Working Paper No. 204). Göttingen, Germany: *Center for European, Governance and Economic Development Research*
- Hryshko, D., Juhn, C., & McCue, K. (2017). Trends in earnings inequality and earnings instability among US couples: How important is assortative matching? *Labour Economics*, *48*, 168-182.
- Hyslop, D. R., & Maré, D. C. (2005). Understanding New Zealand's changing income distribution, 1983– 1998: A semi-parametric analysis. *Economica*, 72(287), 469-495.
- Kalmijn, M. (1998). Intermarriage and homogamy: Causes, patterns, trends. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 24(1), 395-421.
- Karagedikli, Ö., Maré, D. C., & Poot, J. (2000). Disparities and despair: Changes in regional income distributions in New Zealand 1981-96. *Australasian Journal of Regional Studies*, 6(3), 323-347.
- Karagedikli, Ö., Maré, D. C., & Poot, J. (2003). Description and analysis of changes in New Zealand regional income distributions, 1981-1996. In E.T. Gomez and R. Stephens (Eds.), *The State, economic development and ethnic co- existence in Malaysia and New Zealand* (pp. 221-244). Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia: CEDER University of Malaya:
- Kremer, M. (1997). How much does sorting increase inequality? *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *112*(1), 115-139.
- Kuhn, U., & Ravazzini, L. (2017). *The impact of assortative mating on income inequality in Switzerland* (FORS Working Paper No. 2017-1). Retrieved from http://forscenter.ch/wpcontent/uploads/2014/06/FORS_WPS_2017-01_Kuhn_Ravazzini.pdf
- Macfarlane, A. (2016). *Assortative Mating, Income Inequality, and Place*. (Master's dissertation, Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand). Retrieved from http://researcharchive.vuw.ac.nz/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10063/5445/thesis.pdf?sequence=1
- Maré, D.C. (2018). *The labor market in New Zealand, 2000–2017*. Retrieved from IZA website https://wol.iza.org/articles/the-labor-market-in-new-zealand/long.

- Maré, D. C., & Stillman, S. (2010). *Passing it on: The intergenerational transmission of human capital in New Zealand families*. (Families Commission Research Fund Report No. 3/10). Wellington, New Zealand: Families Commission
- Michaels, G., Natraj, A., & Van Reenen, J. (2014). Has ICT polarized skill demand? Evidence from eleven countries over twenty-five years. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, *96*(1), 60-77.
- Mookherjee, D., & Shorrocks, A. (1982). A decomposition analysis of the trend in UK income inequality. *The Economic Journal*, 92(368), 886-902.
- OECD. (2008). Growing unequal?: Income distribution and poverty in OECD countries. Paris, France: Author
- Pencavel, J. (1998). Assortative mating by schooling and the work behavior of wives and husbands. *The American Economic Review*, 88(2), 326-329.
- Perry, B. (2017). *Household incomes in New Zealand: Trends in indicators of inequality and hardship 1982 to 2016*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Social Development. Retrieved from www.msd.govt.nz/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/monitoring/index.html
- Pestel, N. (2017). Marital sorting, inequality and the role of female labour supply: Evidence from East and West Germany. *Economica*, *84*(333), 104-127.
- Schwartz, C. R. (2010). Earnings inequality and the changing association between spouses' earnings. *American Journal of Sociology*, *115*(5), 1524-1557.
- Schwartz, C. R. (2013). Trends and variation in assortative mating: Causes and consequences. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *39*(1), 451-470. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-071312-145544
- Schwartz, C. R., & Mare, R. D. (2005). Trends in educational assortative marriage from 1940 to 2003. *Demography*, 42(4), 621-646.
- Shorrocks, A. (1980). The class of additively decomposable inequality measures. *Econometrica*, 48(3), 613-625. doi:10.2307/1913126
- Statistics New Zealand (2010). Characteristics of same-sex couples in New Zealand. Wellington: Statistics New Zealand
- Worstall, T. (2015, December 25). American inequality is rising because everyone's marrying the wrong people. *Forbes*. Available at: https://www.forbes.com/sites/timworstall/2015/12/25/american-inequality-is-rising-because-everyones-marrying-the-wrong-people/#6ce2f7d59be1
- Zuccollo, J., Maani, S., Kaye-Blake, B., & Zeng, L. (2013). *Private returns to tertiary education-how does New Zealand compare to the OECD?* (Working Paper No. 13/10). Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Treasury.

Appendix

Appendix Table A: Summary of MLD changes by area for the individual population 25-64. Source: Alimi et al. (2018)

Area	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013	Percentage Change 1986-2013
Non-metropolitan	0.3589	0.3275	0.3340	0.3354	0.3065	0.3177	-11%
Metropolitan	0.3500	0.3415	0.3651	0.3719	0.3468	0.3656	4%
All urban area	0.3538	0.3402	0.3596	0.3664	0.3395	0.3565	1%

Notes: Results are the MLD measure of inequality for the individual population 25-64 in each census period. Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas

Appendix Table B: Decomposition of personal income inequality by labour-force groups: Nonmetropolitan areas

	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013				
]	Non-Metrop	olitan							
Between-group contributions										
Full-time	-0.1020	-0.1170	-0.1195	-0.1196	-0.1030	-0.1101				
Part-time	0.1192	0.1136	0.1333	0.1377	0.1258	0.1237				
Unemployed	0.0368	0.0644	0.0494	0.0463	0.0262	0.0427				
Sum between-group	0.0540	0.0610	0.0632	0.0644	0.0490	0.0563				
Between as a prop. of total	22.2%	24.1%	22.3%	22.8%	19.1%	21.4%				
Within-group contributions										
Full-time	0.1155	0.1205	0.1399	0.1427	0.1371	0.1369				
Part-time	0.0565	0.0543	0.0675	0.0636	0.0623	0.0558				
Unemployed	0.0177	0.0176	0.0130	0.0116	0.0085	0.0141				
Sum within-group	0.1897	0.1924	0.2204	0.2179	0.2079	0.2068				
Full-time as a prop. of sum										
within-group	60.9%	62.6%	63.5%	65.5%	65.9%	66.2%				
Total (sum between-group										
+ sum within-group)	0.2437	0.2533	0.2836	0.2823	0.2570	0.2632				
Sum within as prop of total-inequality	77.8%	76.0%	77.7%	77.2%	80.9%	78.6%				

Notes: Results are the between and within-group contribution to overall inequality (as measured by the MLD) for those participating in the labour force in Non-metropolitan area (full-time employed, part-time employed and unemployed). Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas

	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	2013		
	Me	tropolitan						
	Between-gr	oup contri	butions					
Full-time	-0.0909	-0.1037	-0.1080	-0.1066	-0.0916	-0.0994		
Part-time	0.1066	0.0985	0.1157	0.1195	0.1094	0.1105		
Unemployed	0.0342	0.0589	0.0522	0.0467	0.0263	0.0420		
Sum between-group	0.0499	0.0537	0.0599	0.0596	0.0441	0.0531		
Between as a prop. of total	21.1%	21.2%	19.9%	19.4%	15.6%	17.7%		
Within-group contributions								
Full-time	0.1250	0.1323	0.1635	0.1721	0.1665	0.1721		
Part-time	0.0462	0.0486	0.0622	0.0597	0.0610	0.0561		
Unemployed	0.0150	0.0193	0.0160	0.0156	0.0113	0.0180		
Sum within-group	0.1862	0.2002	0.2417	0.2474	0.2388	0.2462		
Full-time as a prop. of sum within-	67.1%	66.1%	67.6%	69.6%	69.7%	69.9%		
group								
Total (sum between-group + sum	0.2360	0.2539	0.3014	0.3068	0.2829	0.2992		
within-group)								
Sum within as prop of total-	78.9%	78.8%	80.2%	80.6%	84.4%	82.3%		
inequality								

Appendix Table C: Decomposition of personal income inequality by labour-force groups: Metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the between and within-group contribution to overall inequality (as measured by the MLD) for those participating in the labour force in Metropolitan area (full-time employed, part-time employed and unemployed). Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas.

		Non-metro	opolitan area						
1986	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean			\$89,	377					
Group mean	\$136,930	\$120,380	\$94,538	\$108,655	\$83,943	\$75,861			
Rel. mean income	1.53	1.35	1.06	1.22	0.94	0.85			
By-group MLD	0.0935	0.0879	0.0718	0.0940	0.0701	0.0747			
Pop share	0.03	0.06	0.34	0.01	0.33	0.24			
Overall MLD			0.08	337					
1991	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean			\$90,	608					
Group mean	\$146,973	\$127,284	\$92,719	\$104,222	\$82,086	\$72,621			
Rel. mean income	1.62	1.40	1.02	1.15	0.91	0.80			
By-group MLD	0.0870	0.0962	0.0835	0.1144	0.0840	0.0864			
Pop share	0.03	0.07	0.43	0.01	0.30	0.16			
Overall MLD			0.09	999					
1996	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean			\$98,	052					
Group mean	\$150,843	\$131,772	\$98,790	\$113,377	\$87,925	\$77,545			
Rel. mean income	1.54	1.34	1.01	1.16	0.90	0.79			
By-group MLD	0.1028	0.0984	0.0826	0.0971	0.0870	0.0929			
Pop share	0.05	0.10	0.40	0.01	0.29	0.16			
Overall MLD		0.1039							
2001	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean			\$105	,003					
Group mean	\$163,771	\$136,730	\$102,986	\$113,769	\$90,356	\$78,852			
Rel. mean income	1.56	1.30	0.98	1.08	0.86	0.75			
By-group MLD	0.1034	0.1079	0.0919	0.0942	0.0919	0.0945			
Pop share	0.05	0.12	0.47	0.01	0.24	0.10			
Overall MLD			0.11	121					
2006	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean			\$109	,935					
Group mean	\$159,717	\$131,887	\$107,087	\$115,999	\$93,743	\$80,834			
Rel. mean income	1.45	1.20	0.97	1.06	0.85	0.74			
By-group MLD	0.1195	0.1040	0.0948	0.0898	0.0874	0.0914			
Pop share	0.07	0.16	0.45	0.02	0.22	0.08			
Overall MLD			0.11	109					
2013	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean			\$115	,013					
Group mean	\$160,884	\$131,635	\$108,024	\$117,180	\$96,166	\$81,200			
Rel. mean income	1.40	1.14	0.94	1.02	0.84	0.71			
By-group MLD	0.1293	0.0991	0.0906	0.0811	0.0817	0.0894			
Pop share	0.10	0.21	0.45	0.02	0.17	0.06			
Overall MLD			0.10)92					

Appendix Table D: Mean and inequality statistics by couple type in each census period for Nonmetropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the mean, relative mean income, MLD and population share for each educational pair and the overall mean income in Non-metropolitan area in each census period. Abbreviations: HH- two high-educated partners; HO /OH - one high-educated partner and one other-educated partner; OO - two other-educated partners; HL/LH - one high-educated partner and one low-educated partner; OL /LO - one other-educated partner and one one low-educated partner; LL - two low-educated partners. Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas

		Metron	olitan area						
1986	нн	но/он		ні /і н		TT			
Overall mean	1111	110/011	<u> </u>	123					
Group mean	\$146 262	\$128 585	\$101 830	\$116 695	\$89 540	\$78 372			
Rel mean income	1 49	1 31	1 04	1 1 9	0.91	0.80			
Ry-groun MLD	0.0883	0.0837	0.0776	0.0972	0 0711	0.0746			
Pon share	5%	9%	36%	1%	29%	20%			
Overall MLD	070	570	0.0	906	2970	2070			
1991	НН	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean		/	\$105	, 5,307	1				
Group mean	\$161,187	\$138,226	\$104,628	\$121,044	\$90,105	\$76,946			
Rel. mean income	1.53	1.31	0.99	1.15	0.86	0.73			
By-group MLD	0.0996	0.0944	0.0902	0.1108	0.0834	0.0851			
Pop share	7%	11%	44%	1%	25%	12%			
Overall MLD			0.1	093					
1996	НН	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean		ł	\$115	5,835	·				
Group mean	\$166,467	\$144,208	\$113,324	\$127,910	\$97,737	\$82,283			
Rel. mean income	1.44	1.24	0.98	1.10	0.84	0.71			
By-group MLD	0.1264	0.1093	0.0931	0.1211	0.0910	0.0904			
Pop share	10%	14%	39%	2%	23%	13%			
Overall MLD		0.1194							
2001	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean			\$126	5,080					
Group mean	\$177,091	\$151,851	\$117,628	\$132,544	\$101,115	\$85,073			
Rel. mean income	1.40	1.20	0.93	1.05	0.80	0.67			
By-group MLD	0.1286	0.1180	0.1074	0.1179	0.0916	0.0937			
Pop share	12%	18%	45%	1%	17%	7%			
Overall MLD			0.1	290					
2006	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean			\$130),388					
Group mean	\$168,878	\$148,034	\$120,148	\$129,836	\$104,688	\$84,979			
Rel. mean income	1.30	1.14	0.92	1.00	0.80	0.65			
By-group MLD	0.1367	0.1175	0.1119	0.1077	0.0950	0.1004			
Pop share	16%	22%	40%	2%	14%	5%			
Overall MLD			0.1	308					
2013	HH	НО/ОН	00	HL/LH	OL/LO	LL			
Overall mean			\$136	5,938					
Group mean	\$174,369	\$148,711	\$121,162	\$126,143	\$103,775	\$82,778			
Rel. mean income	1.27	1.09	0.88	0.92	0.76	0.60			
By-group MLD	0.1401	0.1212	0.1150	0.1038	0.0933	0.1119			
Pop share	22%	26%	37%	2%	10%	3%			
Overall MLD			0.1	372					

Appendix Table E: Mean and inequality statistics by couple type in each census period for Metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the mean, relative mean income, MLD and population share for each educational pair and the overall mean income in Non-metropolitan area in each census period. Abbreviations: HH- two high-educated partners; HO /OH - one high-educated partner and one other-educated partner; OO - two other-educated partners; HL/LH - one high-educated partner and one low-educated partner; OL /LO - one other-educated partner and one one low-educated partner; LL - two low-educated partners. Metropolitan areas are the six largest New Zealand cities (in order of size): Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Hamilton, Tauranga and Dunedin. All other urban areas are considered non-metropolitan areas

Edu	cational dist	tribution: N	Non- Metro	politan a	reas				
	Total	Prop.	Male	Prop.	Female	Prop.	Ratio of		
1986									
High-Education	3,990	6%	2,502	7%	1,491	4%	168%		
Other-Education	35,697	53%	18,393	55%	17,304	52%	106%		
Low-Education	27,123	41%	12,513	37%	14,610	44%	86%		
Total specified	66,813	100%	33,408	100%	33,408	100%			
			1991						
High-Education	5,067	7%	2,937	8%	2,130	6%	138%		
Other-Education	42,975	61%	21,336	61%	21,636	62%	99%		
Low-Education	22,185	32%	10,839	31%	11,346	32%	96%		
Total specified	70,224	100%	35,112	100%	35,112	100%			
			1996						
High-Education	6,693	10%	3,669	11%	3,021	9%	121%		
Other-Education	38,637	59%	18,435	56%	20,202	61%	91%		
Low-Education	20,523	31%	10,821	33%	9,699	29%	112%		
Total specified	65,850	100%	32,925	100%	32,928	100%			
			2001						
High-Education	9,135	12%	4,410	12%	4,725	13%	93%		
Other-Education	49,047	65%	23,649	63%	25,398	67%	93%		
Low-Education	17,286	23%	9,678	26%	7,611	20%	127%		
Total specified	75,468	100%	37,734	100%	37,734	100%			
			2006						
High-Education	15,894	16%	6,720	14%	9,174	19%	73%		
Other-Education	62,700	64%	31,407	64%	31,296	64%	100%		
Low-Education	19,797	20%	11,070	23%	8,727	18%	127%		
Total specified	98,391	100%	49,197	100%	49,194	100%			
			2013						
High-Education	21,042	22%	7,878	16%	13,164	27%	60%		
Other-Education	61,863	63%	32,343	66%	29,520	61%	110%		
Low-Education	14,547	15%	8,505	17%	6,039	12%	141%		
Total specified			48,726	100%	48,726	100%			

Appendix Table F: Educational distribution for individuals in couples aged 25-64 in Non-metropolitan areas from 1986 to 2013

Notes: Results are the number and proportion by gender in each educational group in Non-metropolitan area for each census period. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with no qualification

Educational distribution: Metropolitan area									
	Total	Prop.	Male	Prop.	Female	Prop.	Ratio of		
1986									
High-Education	16,920	10%	10,086	12%	6,837	8%	148%		
Other-Education	95,274	55%	49,092	56%	46,182	53%	106%		
Low-Education	61,779	36%	27,810	32%	33,969	39%	82%		
Total specified	173,973	100%	86,988	100%	86,988	100%			
			1991						
High-Education	23,694	13%	13,395	14%	10,299	11%	130%		
Other-Education	114,162	62%	57,135	62%	57,027	62%	100%		
Low-Education	46,944	25%	21,870	24%	25,074	27%	87%		
Total specified	184,797	100%	92,400	100%	92,400	100%			
			1996						
High-Education	32,805	18%	17,616	19%	15,186	17%	116%		
Other-Education	105,153	57%	51,147	56%	54,006	59%	95%		
Low-Education	45,231	25%	22,830	25%	22,404	24%	102%		
Total specified	183,189	100%	91,596	100%	91,596	100%			
			2001						
High-Education	49,419	22%	24,489	21%	24,933	22%	98%		
Other-Education	142,806	62%	70,233	61%	72,573	63%	97%		
Low-Education	36,552	16%	19,665	17%	16,887	15%	116%		
Total specified	228,777	100%	114,390	100%	114,390	100%			
			2006						
High-Education	84,228	28%	38,706	26%	45,519	31%	85%		
Other-Education	174,237	58%	88,857	60%	85,383	57%	104%		
Low-Education	39,468	13%	21,405	14%	18,063	12%	119%		
Total specified	297,933	100%	148,968	100%	148,968	100%			
			2013						
High-Education	111,813	36%	48,393	31%	63,420	40%	76%		
Other-Education	174,120	55%	92,373	59%	81,747	52%	113%		
Low-Education	28,803	9%	16,602	11%	12,201	8%	136%		
Total specified	314.736	100%	157.368	100%	157.368	100%			

Appendix Table G: Educational distribution for individuals in couples aged 25-64 in Metropolitan areas from 1986 to 2013

Notes: Results are the number and proportion by gender in each educational group in Metropolitan area for each census period, High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

Actual proportion - Non-metropolitan									
Female		Male							
	High-Education	Other-Education	Low-Education						
1986									
High-Education	2.5%	1.6%	0.3%						
Other-Education	4.4%	34.0%	13.4%						
Low-Education	0.5%	19.5%	23.8%						
	1991								
High-Education	3.3%	2.5%	0.3%						
Other-Education	4.8%	42.6%	14.2%						
Low-Education	0.3%	15.7%	16.3%						
	1996								
High-Education	4.7%	3.8%	0.6%						
Other-Education	5.8%	39.6%	16.0%						
Low-Education	0.6%	12.6%	16.3%						
	2001								
High-Education	5.3%	6.4%	0.9%						
Other-Education	6.0%	46.8%	14.5%						
Low-Education	0.4%	9.5%	10.3%						
	2006								
High-Education	7.2%	9.9%	1.5%						
Other-Education	6.1%	44.8%	12.8%						
Low-Education	0.4%	9.1%	8.3%						
	2013								
High-Education	9.9%	15.2%	1.9%						
Other-Education	5.9%	44.6%	10.1%						
Low-Education	0.3%	6.6%	5.5%						

Appendix Table H: Actual proportion of couples in each educational pairing: Non-metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the proportion of male-female couples in each educational pairing in Non-metropolitan area for each census period. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

Randomised - Non-metropolitan									
Female	Male								
	High-Education	Other-Education	Low-Education						
1986									
High-Education	0.3% (0.0003)	2.4% (0.0006)	1.7% (0.0005)						
Other-Education	3.9% (0.0007)	19.4% (0.0013)							
Low-Education	3.3% (0.0008)	24.1% (0.0013)	16.4% (0.0013)						
	1991								
High-Education	0.5% (0.0003)	3.7% (0.0007)	1.9% (0.0006)						
Other-Education	5.2% (0.0007)	37.4% (0.0012)	19.0% (0.0011)						
Low-Education	2.7% (0.0006)	19.6% (0.0012)	10.0% (0.0010)						
1996									
High-Education	1.0% (0.0005)	5.1% (0.0008)	3.0% (0.0008)						
Other-Education	6.8% (0.0009)	34.4% (0.0013)	20.2% (0.0013)						
Low-Education	3.3% (0.0008)	16.5% (0.0013)	9.7% (0.0012)						
	2001								
High-Education	1.5% (0.0005)	7.9% (0.0008)	3.2% (0.0007)						
Other-Education	7.9% (0.0008)	42.2% (0.0011)	17.3% (0.0010)						
Low-Education	2.4% (0.0007)	12.6% (0.0009)	5.2% (0.0008)						
	2006								
High-Education	2.5% (0.0006)	11.9% (0.0008)	4.2% (0.0007)						
Other-Education	8.7% (0.0007)	40.6% (0.0010)	14.3% (0.0009)						
Low-Education	2.4% (0.0006)	11.3% (0.0008)	4.0% (0.0007)						
	2013								
High-Education	4.4% (0.0007)	17.9% (0.0009)	4.7% (0.0008)						
Other-Education	9.8% (0.0008)	40.2% (0.0011)	10.6% (0.0009)						
Low-Education	2.0% (0.0005)	8.2% (0.0007)	2.2% (0.0006)						

Appendix Table I: Proportion of couples in each educational pairing under randomisation: Nonmetropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the proportion of male-female couples in Non-metropolitan area in each educational pairing in each census period under randomised matching. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification.

Actual proportion - Metropolitan									
Female									
	High-Education	Other-Education	Low-Education						
1986									
High-Education	4.6%	2.9%	0.4%						
Other-Education	6.3%	35.5%	11.2%						
Low-Education	0.7%	18.0%	20.3%						
	1991								
High-Education	6.6%	4.1%	0.5%						
Other-Education	7.4%	43.6%	10.8%						
Low-Education	0.5%	14.2%	12.5%						
	1996								
High-Education	10.0%	5.9%	0.7%						
Other-Education	8.5%	38.9%	11.6%						
Low-Education	0.8%	11.0%	12.6%						
	2001								
High-Education	11.7%	9.3%	0.8%						
Other-Education	9.2%	44.8%	9.4%						
Low-Education	0.5%	7.3%	7.0%						
	2006								
High-Education	16.5%	13.0%	1.1%						
Other-Education	9.1%	40.4%	7.8%						
Low-Education	0.4%	6.3%	5.4%						
	2013								
High-Education	21.5%	17.4%	1.3%						
Other-Education	8.9%	37.2%	5.8%						
Low-Education	0.3%	4.0%	3.4%						

Appendix Table J: Actual proportion of couples in each educational pairing: Metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the actual proportion of male-female couples in each educational pairing in Metropolitan area for each census period. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with no qualification.

Randomised - Metropolitan									
Female		Male							
	High-Education	Other-Education	Low-Education						
1986									
High-Education	0.9% (0.0003)	4.4% (0.0004)	2.5% (0.0004)						
Other-Education	6.2% (0.0006)	30.0% (0.0008)	17.0% (0.0007)						
Low-Education	4.5% (0.0005)	22.0% (0.0008)	12.5% (0.0007)						
	1991								
High-Education	1.6% (0.0004)	6.9% (0.0005)	2.6% (0.0005)						
Other-Education	8.9% (0.0005)	38.2% (0.0008)	14.6% (0.0007)						
Low-Education	3.9% (0.0005)	16.8%(0.0007)	6.4% (0.0006)						
1996									
High-Education	3.2% (0.0005)	9.3% (0.0006)	4.1% (0.0006)						
Other-Education	11.3% (0.0007)	32.9% (0.0008)	14.7% (0.0007)						
Low-Education	4.7% (0.0006)	13.7% (0.0007)	6.1% (0.0006)						
	2001								
High-Education	4.7% (0.0005)	13.4% (0.0006)	3.7% (0.0005)						
Other-Education	13.6% (0.0006)	39.0% (0.0007)	10.9% (0.0005)						
Low-Education	3.2% (0.0004)	9.1% (0.0005)	2.5% (0.0004)						
	2006								
High-Education	7.9% (0.0006)	18.2% (0.0006)	4.4% (0.0005)						
Other-Education	14.9% (0.0006)	34.2% (0.0006)	8.2% (0.0005)						
Low-Education	3.1% (0.0004)	7.2% (0.0004)	1.7% (0.0003)						
	2013								
High-Education	12.4% (0.0006)	23.7% (0.0007)	4.3% (0.0004)						
Other-Education	16.0% (0.0006)	30.5% (0.0007)	5.5% (0.0004)						
Low-Education	2.4% (0.0003)	4.6% (0.0003)	0.8% (0.0002)						

Appendix Table K: Proportion of couples in each educational pairing under randomisation: Metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the proportion of male-female couples in Metropolitan areas in each educational pairing in each census period under randomised matching. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

Concentration ratio									
	High-Education	Other-Education	Low-Education						
1986									
High-Education	7.5	0.7	0.2						
Other-Education	1.1	1.2	0.7						
Low-Education	0.2	0.8	1.5						
	1991								
High-Education	6.4	0.7	0.2						
Other-Education	0.9	1.1	0.7						
Low-Education	0.1	0.8	1.6						
	1996								
High-Education	4.6	0.7	0.2						
Other-Education	0.9	1.2	0.8						
Low-Education	0.2	0.8	1.7						
	2001								
High-Education	3.6	0.8	0.3						
Other-Education	0.8	1.1	0.8						
Low-Education	0.2	0.8	2.0						
	2006								
High-Education	2.8	0.8	0.4						
Other-Education	0.7	1.1	0.9						
Low-Education	0.2	0.8	2.1						
	2013								
High-Education	2.3	0.8	0.4						
Other-Education	0.6	1.1	1.0						
Low-Education	0.1	0.8	2.5						

Appendix Table L: Concentration ratio from 1986 to 2013: Non-metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the concentratio ratio i.e. ratio of actual proportion to random proportion of malefemale couples in each educational group in each census period for Non-metropolitan areas. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

Concentration ratio								
	High-Education	Other-Education	Low-Education					
1986								
High-Education	5.0	0.7	0.2					
Other-Education	1.0	1.2	0.7					
Low-Education	0.2	0.8	1.6					
	1991							
High-Education	4.1	0.6	0.2					
Other-Education	0.8	1.1	0.7					
Low-Education	0.1	0.8	1.9					
	1996							
High-Education	3.1	0.6	0.2					
Other-Education	0.8	1.2	0.8					
Low-Education	0.2	0.8	2.1					
	2001							
High-Education	2.5	0.7	0.2					
Other-Education	0.7	1.2	0.9					
Low-Education	0.1	0.8	2.8					
	2006							
High-Education	2.1	0.7	0.3					
Other-Education	0.6	1.2	0.9					
Low-Education	0.1	0.9	3.1					
	2013							
High-Education	1.7	0.7	0.3					
Other-Education	0.6	1.2	1.1					
Low-Education	0.1	0.9	4.2					

Appendix Table M: Concentration ratio from 1986 to 2013: Metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the concentratio ratio i.e. ratio of actual proportion to random proportion of malefemale couples in each educational group in each census period for Metropolitan areas. High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

Non-metropolitan							
	High-Education	Other-Education	Low-Education				
	1986						
High-Education	0.53	-0.41	-0.50				
	(0.4%)	(3.9%)	(2.9%)				
Other-Education	0.16	0.23	-0.33				
	(1.7%)	(0.4%)	(1.0%)				
Low-Education	-0.66	-0.23	0.35				
	(3.0%)	(0.8%)	(0.4%)				
	1991						
High-Education	0.50	-0.52	-0.37				
	(0.3%)	(4.1%)	(1.9%)				
Other-Education	-0.13	0.22	-0.40				
	(2.4%)	(0.4%)	(1.3%)				
Low-Education	-0.42	-0.31	0.30				
	(1.6%)	(1.2%)	(0.3%)				
	1996						
High-Education	0.46	-0.32	-0.39				
	(0.3%)	(2.6%)	(1.7%)				
Other-Education	-0.23	0.24	-0.33				
	(2.5%)	(0.5%)	(1.3%)				
Low-Education	-0.34	-0.30	0.33				
	2001						
High-Education	0.37	-0.31	-0.25				
	(0.3%)	(2.2%)	(0.9%)				
Other-Education	-0.48	0.22	-0.33				
	(3.0%)	(0.4%)	(1.6%)				
Low-Education	-0.21	-0.42	0.34				
	(0.9%)	(1.8%)	(0.4%)				
	2006						
High-Education	0.42	-0.29	-0.19				
	(0.3%)	(1.5%)	(0.6%)				
Other-Education	-0.53	0.18	-0.19				
	(2.3%)	(0.4%)	(1.3%)				
Low-Education	-0.18	-0.35	0.31				
	(0.6%)	(1.6%)	(0.3%)				
	2013						
High-Education	0.47	-0.30	-0.22				
	(0.3%)	(1.3%)	(0.8%)				
Other-Education	-0.61	0.21	-0.08				
	(2.1%)	(0.4%)	(1.4%)				
Low-Education	-0.16	-0.39	0.33				
	(0.6%)	(2.3%)	(0.4%)				

Appendix Table N: Assortative matching index by educational group for non-metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the educational assortative matching index calculated as $\frac{Actual-Random}{Max homogamy-Random}$ for each educational pairing for Non-metropolitan areas in each census period. Standard errors in brackets (standard errors are the standard deviations from 250 replications of randomisation). High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

Metropolitan							
	High-Education	Other-Education	Low-Education				
	1986						
High-Education	0.53	-0.45	-0.40				
	(0.2%)	(1.9%)	(1.1%)				
Other-Education	0.03	0.24	-0.38				
	(1.0%)	(0.3%)	(0.7%)				
Low-Education	-0.54	-0.24	0.40				
	(1.1%)	(0.6%)	(0.2%)				
	1991						
High-Education	0.52	-0.66	-0.26				
	(0.2%)	(2.0%)	(0.7%)				
Other-Education	-0.28	0.23	-0.43				
	(1.3%)	(0.2%)	(1.1%)				
Low-Education	-0.32	-0.25	0.35				
	(0.6%)	(0.8%)	(0.2%)				
	1996						
High-Education	0.51	-0.46	-0.27				
	(0.2%)	(1.3%)	(0.6%)				
Other-Education	-0.36	0.26	-0.31				
	(1.1%)	(0.3%)	(0.9%)				
Low-Education	-0.27	-0.24	0.36				
	(0.5%)	(0.8%)	(0.2%)				
	2001						
High-Education	0.42	-0.49	-0.22				
	(0.2%)	(1.1%)	(0.4%)				
Other-Education	-0.56	0.26	-0.24				
	(1.1%)	(0.2%)	(1.0%)				
Low-Education	-0.23	-0.31	0.37				
	(0.5%)	(1.2%)	(0.2%)				
	2006						
High-Education	0.47	-0.43	-0.33				
	(0.2%)	(0.7%)	(0.6%)				
Other-Education	-0.52	0.27	-0.07				
	(0.8%)	(0.2%)	(0.8%)				
Low-Education	-0.30	-0.19	0.35				
	(0.6%)	(1.1%)	(0.2%)				
	2013						
High-Education	0.50	-0.37	-0.46				
	(0.2%)	(0.5%)	(0.9%)				
Other-Education	-0.48	0.31	0.06				
	(0.6%)	(0.2%)	(0.7%)				
Low-Education	-0.39	-0.17	0.38				
	(0.8%)	(1.2%)	(0.2%)				

Appendix Table O: Assortative matching index by educational group for metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the educational assortative matching index calculated as $\frac{Actual-Random}{Max\ homogamy-Random}$ for each educational pairing for Metropolitan areas in each census period. Standard errors in brackets (standard errors are the standard deviations from 250 replications of randomisation). High-Education represent those with Bachelors degree and above, Other-Education are those with other forms of qualification but below the Bachelor level, and Low-Education are those with those with no qualification

Abbreviations for 1999 New Zealand Standard Occupational Classification:

- AD&M Legislators, Administrators and Managers
- PROF Professionals
- TECH Technicians and Associate Professionals
- CLERKS Clerks
- S&S Service and Sales Workers
- AGRI Agriculture and Fishery Workers
- TRADE Trades Workers
- P&M Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers
- ELMT Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

Actual occupational pairings- All urban areas									
Female				Μ	lale				
	AD&M	PROF	TECH	CLERKS	S & S	AGRI	TRADE	P&M	ELMT
				1986					
AD&M	5.0%	0.8%	0.9%	0.6%	0.6%	0.2%	1.3%	0.7%	0.4%
PROF	2.3%	5.3%	2.2%	1.3%	1.1%	0.3%	2.0%	1.0%	0.6%
ТЕСН	1.2%	1.4%	1.7%	0.8%	0.6%	0.2%	1.3%	0.7%	0.4%
CLERKS	5.3%	3.2%	4.2%	3.6%	2.8%	0.7%	6.7%	3.2%	2.0%
S & S	1.7%	0.8%	1.3%	1.2%	1.9%	0.4%	2.9%	2.3%	1.4%
AGRI	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	1.4%	0.2%	0.3%	0.1%
TRADE	0.2%	0.1%	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.9%	0.5%	0.2%
P&M	0.5%	0.2%	0.5%	0.7%	0.6%	0.3%	2.1%	2.6%	1.2%
ELMT	0.4%	0.2%	0.3%	0.5%	0.4%	0.2%	1.2%	1.5%	1.2%
	•			2013					
AD&M	7.3%	3.1%	2.5%	0.8%	1.5%	0.4%	2.5%	1.4%	1.4%
PROF	5.6%	7.9%	3.7%	1.2%	1.9%	0.5%	3.1%	1.6%	1.8%
ТЕСН	3.4%	2.7%	2.8%	0.8%	1.3%	0.3%	2.2%	1.4%	1.3%
CLERKS	3.5%	2.2%	2.1%	1.1%	1.2%	0.3%	2.6%	1.7%	1.4%
S & S	1.8%	1.0%	1.2%	0.5%	1.8%	0.3%	1.8%	1.5%	1.1%
AGRI	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.0%	0.4%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%
TRADE	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.3%	0.1%	0.1%
P&M	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.4%	0.7%	0.3%
ELMT	0.7%	0.5%	0.4%	0.2%	0.3%	0.1%	0.7%	0.8%	1.1%

Appendix Table P: Actual occupational pairings in 1986 and 2013: All urban areas

Notes: Results are the actual proportion of male-female couples in each occupational pairing for all urban areas combined in 1986 and 2013. Abbreviations: AD&M – Legislators, Administrators and Managers; PROF – Professionals; TECH – Technicians and Associate Professionals; CLERKS – Clerks; S&S – Service and Sales Workers; AGRI - Agriculture and Fishery Workers; TRADE – Trades Workers; P&M – Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers; ELMT – Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

Occupational pairing under randomisation- All urban areas									
Female					Male				
	AD&M	PROF	TECH	CLERKS	S & S	AGRI	TRADE	P&M	ELMT
1986									
AD&M	1.8%	1.3%	1.2%	0.9%	0.9%	0.4%	1.9%	1.3%	0.8%
PROF	2.7%	2.0%	1.8%	1.4%	1.3%	0.6%	3.0%	2.0%	1.2%
TECH	1.4%	1.0%	1.0%	0.7%	0.7%	0.3%	1.5%	1.1%	0.6%
CLERKS	5.3%	3.9%	3.6%	2.8%	2.6%	1.2%	5.8%	4.0%	2.4%
S & S	2.3%	1.7%	1.6%	1.2%	1.2%	0.5%	2.6%	1.8%	1.1%
AGRI	0.4%	0.3%	0.3%	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.5%	0.3%	0.2%
TRADE	0.4%	0.3%	0.3%	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.5%	0.3%	0.2%
P&M	1.5%	1.1%	1.0%	0.8%	0.7%	0.3%	1.6%	1.1%	0.7%
ELMT	1.0%	0.7%	0.7%	0.5%	0.5%	0.2%	1.0%	0.7%	0.4%
				2013					
AD&M	4.7%	3.7%	2.7%	1.0%	1.7%	0.5%	2.8%	1.9%	1.8%
PROF	6.2%	4.8%	3.6%	1.3%	2.3%	0.7%	3.7%	2.5%	2.3%
TECH	3.7%	2.8%	2.1%	0.8%	1.3%	0.4%	2.2%	1.5%	1.4%
CLERKS	3.6%	2.8%	2.1%	0.8%	1.3%	0.4%	2.2%	1.5%	1.4%
S & S	2.5%	1.9%	1.4%	0.5%	0.9%	0.3%	1.5%	1.0%	0.9%
AGRI	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%
TRADE	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%
P&M	0.5%	0.4%	0.3%	0.1%	0.2%	0.1%	0.3%	0.2%	0.2%
ELMT	1.1%	0.9%	0.6%	0.2%	0.4%	0.1%	0.7%	0.4%	0.4%

Appendix Table Q: Occupational pairing under randomisation in 1986 and 2013: All urban areas

Notes: Results are the proportion of male-female couples in each occupational pairing under randomised matching in all urban areas combined in 1986 and 2013. Abbreviations: AD&M – Legislators, Administrators and Managers; PROF – Professionals; TECH – Technicians and Associate Professionals; CLERKS – Clerks; S&S – Service and Sales Workers; AGRI - Agriculture and Fishery Workers; TRADE – Trades Workers; P&M – Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers; ELMT – Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

	Actual occupational pairing - Non-metropolitan areas								
Female					Male				
	AD&M	PROF	TECH	Clerks	S & S	AGRI	TRADE	P&M	ELMT
				198	36				
AD&M	5.4%	0.6%	0.8%	0.5%	0.6%	0.3%	1.3%	0.9%	0.4%
PROF	1.9%	5.2%	2.0%	1.1%	1.1%	0.6%	2.2%	1.3%	0.7%
ТЕСН	0.8%	1.2%	1.5%	0.6%	0.6%	0.3%	1.3%	0.9%	0.5%
Clerks	4.2%	2.7%	3.5%	2.6%	2.5%	1.1%	6.4%	3.7%	1.7%
S & S	1.7%	0.9%	1.5%	1.3%	2.2%	0.9%	3.6%	3.3%	1.7%
AGRI	0.2%	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.2%	2.3%	0.4%	0.6%	0.3%
TRADE	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.7%	0.3%	0.1%
P&M	0.4%	0.2%	0.4%	0.5%	0.6%	0.5%	1.9%	2.7%	1.0%
ELMT	0.4%	0.1%	0.3%	0.4%	0.3%	0.4%	1.0%	1.5%	1.0%
	•			201	13				
AD&M	6.3%	1.9%	2.1%	0.5%	1.6%	0.8%	2.8%	1.9%	1.6%
PROF	4.2%	5.6%	2.9%	0.8%	2.2%	1.1%	3.6%	2.3%	1.9%
TECH	2.7%	1.8%	2.1%	0.6%	1.3%	0.7%	2.6%	1.9%	1.3%
Clerks	3.3%	1.6%	1.9%	0.8%	1.2%	0.7%	3.1%	2.3%	1.5%
S & S	2.0%	0.8%	1.2%	0.5%	2.1%	0.8%	2.5%	2.3%	1.5%
AGRI	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.8%	0.2%	0.2%	0.2%
TRADE	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.3%	0.1%	0.1%
P&M	0.2%	0.1%	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.2%	0.4%	1.0%	0.4%
ELMT	0.6%	0.4%	0.3%	0.2%	0.3%	0.3%	0.7%	1.1%	1.2%

Appendix Table R: Actual occupational pairings in 1986 and 2013: Non-metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the actual proportion of male-female couples in each occupational pairing for Nonmetropolitan areas in 1986 and 2013. Abbreviations: AD&M – Legislators, Administrators and Managers; PROF – Professionals; TECH – Technicians and Associate Professionals; CLERKS – Clerks; S&S – Service and Sales Workers; AGRI - Agriculture and Fishery Workers; TRADE – Trades Workers; P&M – Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers; ELMT – Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

Occupational pairing under randomisation- Non-metropolitan areas											
Female					Male						
1986											
	AD&M	PROF	TECH	Clerks	S & S	AGRI	TRADE	P&M	ELMT		
AD&M	1.7%	1.2%	1.1%	0.8%	0.9%	0.7%	2.0%	1.7%	0.8%		
PROF	2.5%	1.8%	1.7%	1.2%	1.3%	1.1%	3.0%	2.5%	1.2%		
TECH	1.2%	0.8%	0.8%	0.6%	0.6%	0.5%	1.4%	1.1%	0.6%		
Clerks	4.3%	3.2%	2.9%	2.1%	2.3%	1.9%	5.3%	4.3%	2.1%		
S & S	2.6%	1.9%	1.8%	1.3%	1.4%	1.1%	3.2%	2.6%	1.3%		
AGRI	0.7%	0.5%	0.5%	0.3%	0.4%	0.3%	0.8%	0.7%	0.3%		
TRADE	0.3%	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.3%	0.3%	0.1%		
P&M	1.3%	0.9%	0.9%	0.6%	0.7%	0.5%	1.5%	1.2%	0.6%		
ELMT	0.8%	0.6%	0.5%	0.4%	0.4%	0.3%	1.0%	0.8%	0.4%		
	•			201	3						
AD&M	3.8%	2.4%	2.1%	0.7%	1.8%	1.1%	3.2%	2.6%	1.9%		
PROF	4.8%	3.0%	2.7%	0.9%	2.2%	1.3%	4.0%	3.2%	2.4%		
TECH	3.0%	1.9%	1.6%	0.5%	1.4%	0.8%	2.5%	2.0%	1.5%		
Clerks	3.2%	2.1%	1.8%	0.6%	1.5%	0.9%	2.7%	2.2%	1.6%		
S & S	2.7%	1.7%	1.5%	0.5%	1.2%	0.7%	2.2%	1.8%	1.3%		
AGRI	0.4%	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.2%	0.1%	0.3%	0.3%	0.2%		
TRADE	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%		
P&M	0.5%	0.3%	0.3%	0.1%	0.2%	0.1%	0.4%	0.3%	0.3%		
ELMT	1.0%	0.6%	0.6%	0.2%	0.5%	0.3%	0.8%	0.7%	0.5%		

Appendix Table S: Occupational pairing under randomisation in 1986 and 2013: Non-metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the proportion of male-female couples in each occupational pairing under randomised matching in Non-metropolitan area in 1986 and 2013. Abbreviations: AD&M – Legislators, Administrators and Managers; PROF – Professionals; TECH – Technicians and Associate Professionals; CLERKS – Clerks; S&S – Service and Sales Workers; AGRI - Agriculture and Fishery Workers; TRADE – Trades Workers; P&M – Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers; ELMT – Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

Actual occupational pairing - Metropolitan areas											
Female	e Male										
1986											
1986	AD&M	PROF	TECH	Clerks	S & S	AGRI	TRADE	P&M	ELMT		
AD&M	4.9%	0.9%	1.0%	0.6%	0.6%	0.1%	1.3%	0.6%	0.4%		
PROF	2.4%	5.3%	2.2%	1.3%	1.2%	0.2%	1.8%	0.8%	0.6%		
ТЕСН	1.4%	1.5%	1.8%	0.8%	0.7%	0.1%	1.4%	0.6%	0.4%		
Clerks	5.8%	3.4%	4.5%	3.9%	3.0%	0.5%	6.7%	3.0%	2.1%		
S & S	1.7%	0.8%	1.3%	1.2%	1.8%	0.3%	2.6%	1.9%	1.2%		
AGRI	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	1.0%	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%		
TRADE	0.3%	0.1%	0.2%	0.2%	0.2%	0.0%	1.0%	0.5%	0.3%		
P&M	0.5%	0.3%	0.5%	0.7%	0.6%	0.2%	2.1%	2.6%	1.3%		
ELMT	0.3%	0.2%	0.3%	0.5%	0.4%	0.2%	1.3%	1.5%	1.2%		
	•			20	13						
AD&M	7.6%	3.4%	2.7%	0.8%	1.5%	0.3%	2.4%	1.2%	1.3%		
PROF	6.1%	8.6%	4.0%	1.3%	1.9%	0.4%	2.9%	1.4%	1.7%		
ТЕСН	3.6%	2.9%	3.1%	0.9%	1.3%	0.2%	2.1%	1.2%	1.2%		
Clerks	3.6%	2.3%	2.1%	1.1%	1.2%	0.2%	2.4%	1.5%	1.4%		
S & S	1.8%	1.0%	1.1%	0.5%	1.7%	0.2%	1.6%	1.2%	0.9%		
AGRI	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.0%	0.3%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%		
TRADE	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.3%	0.1%	0.1%		
P&M	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.4%	0.6%	0.3%		
ELMT	0.7%	0.6%	0.4%	0.2%	0.3%	0.1%	0.6%	0.7%	1.1%		

Appendix Table T: Actual occupational pairings in 1986 and 2013: Metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the actual proportion of male-female couples in each occupational pairing in Metropolitan areas in 1986 and 2013. Abbreviations: AD&M – Legislators, Administrators and Managers; PROF – Professionals; TECH – Technicians and Associate Professionals; CLERKS – Clerks; S&S – Service and Sales Workers; AGRI - Agriculture and Fishery Workers; TRADE – Trades Workers; P&M – Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers; ELMT – Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

Occupational pairing under randomisation- Metropolitan areas												
Female	emale Male											
1986												
	AD&M	PROF	TECH	Clerks	S & S	AGRI	TRADE	P&M	ELMT			
AD&M	1.8%	1.3%	1.2%	1.0%	0.9%	0.3%	1.9%	1.2%	0.8%			
PROF	2.8%	2.0%	1.9%	1.5%	1.3%	0.4%	2.9%	1.9%	1.2%			
TECH	1.5%	1.1%	1.0%	0.8%	0.7%	0.2%	1.6%	1.0%	0.7%			
Clerks	5.7%	4.1%	3.9%	3.1%	2.8%	0.9%	6.0%	3.9%	2.5%			
S & S	2.2%	1.6%	1.5%	1.2%	1.1%	0.3%	2.3%	1.5%	1.0%			
AGRI	0.3%	0.2%	0.2%	0.2%	0.2%	0.0%	0.3%	0.2%	0.1%			
TRADE	0.5%	0.3%	0.3%	0.3%	0.2%	0.1%	0.5%	0.3%	0.2%			
P&M	1.5%	1.1%	1.1%	0.8%	0.7%	0.2%	1.6%	1.0%	0.7%			
ELMT	1.0%	0.7%	0.7%	0.5%	0.5%	0.2%	1.1%	0.7%	0.4%			
				20	13							
AD&M	5.0%	4.1%	2.9%	1.1%	1.7%	0.3%	2.7%	1.7%	1.7%			
PROF	6.7%	5.4%	3.9%	1.4%	2.3%	0.5%	3.6%	2.2%	2.3%			
TECH	3.9%	3.2%	2.3%	0.8%	1.3%	0.3%	2.1%	1.3%	1.3%			
Clerks	3.8%	3.1%	2.2%	0.8%	1.3%	0.3%	2.0%	1.3%	1.3%			
S & S	2.4%	1.9%	1.4%	0.5%	0.8%	0.2%	1.3%	0.8%	0.8%			
AGRI	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%			
TRADE	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.0%	0.1%	0.1%	0.1%			
P&M	0.5%	0.4%	0.3%	0.1%	0.2%	0.0%	0.2%	0.2%	0.2%			
ELMT	1.1%	0.9%	0.7%	0.2%	0.4%	0.1%	0.6%	0.4%	0.4%			

Appendix Table U: Occupational pairing under randomisation in 1986 and 2013: Metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the proportion of male-female couples in each occupational pairing under randomised matching in Metropolitan area in 1986 and 2013. Abbreviations: AD&M – Legislators, Administrators and Managers; PROF – Professionals; TECH – Technicians and Associate Professionals; CLERKS – Clerks; S&S – Service and Sales Workers; AGRI - Agriculture and Fishery Workers; TRADE – Trades Workers; P&M – Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers; ELMT – Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

Fomalo	Occupational Index- All urban areas									
remate				1	986					
	AD&M	PROF	TECH	Clerks	<u> </u>	AGRI	TRADE	P&M	FLMT	
AD&M	0.37	-0.05	-0.03	-0.04	-0.03	-0.07	-0.08	-0.07	-0.06	
mban	(0.2%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.5%)	(0.5%)	(0.3%)	(0.00)	
PROF	-0.03	0.32	0.03	-0.02	-0.03	-0.08	-0.08	-0.10	-0.09	
1 101	(0.3%)	(0.2%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.7%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.5%)	
ТЕСН	-0.03	0.05	0.10	0.00	-0.01	-0.04	-0.03	-0.05	-0.03	
1 LOII	(0.5%)	(0.03)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.03)	(0.3%)	
Clerks	0.00	-0.08	0.07	0.13	0.03	-0.19	0.06	-0.10	-0.08	
GICI KS	(0.00)	-0.00 (0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.15	0.05 (0.6%)	(1.2%)	0.00 (0.4%)	(0.6%)	-0.00 (0.8%)	
585	-0.05	-0.08	-0.03	0.00	0.10	-0.03	0.17	0.05	0.05	
5005	(0.3%)	-0.00	-0.03 (0.3%)	(0.00	(0.10	-0.03 (0.6%)	(0.03	(0.03	(0.05)	
ACRI	-0.15	-0.09	-0.08	-0.06	-0.05	0.53	-0.11	-0.02	-0.02	
nun	(0.9%)	(0.7%)	-0.00 (0.7%)	-0.00 (0.6%)	-0.05 (0.6%)	(0.33)	-0.11 (0.9%)	(0.7%)	(0.5%)	
TRADE	-0.10	-0.09	-0.04	-0.01	-0.03	-0.01	0.21	0.06	0.03	
IMDL	(0.9%)	(0.7%)	-0.04 (0.6%)	-0.01 (0.6%)	-0.05	(0.3%)	(0.21)	(0.00 (0.7%)	(0.5%)	
D&M	-0.13	-0.11	-0.07	-0.01	-0.02	-0.02	0.06	0.20	0.08	
	(0.5%)	-0.11	-0.07	-0.01	-0.02	(0.40%)	0.00 (0.4%)	(0.20)	(0.3%)	
FIMT	-0.13	-0.11	-0.07	-0.01	-0.02	0.00	0.17	0.15	0.14	
	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.02)	(0.4%)	0.05 (0.5%)	(0.15)	(0.3%)	
	(0.070)	(0.570)	(0.170)	2	013	(0.170)	(0.570)	(0.170)	(0.570)	
AD&M	0.16	-0.04	-0.02	-0.06	-0.03	-0.08	-0.03	-0.07	-0.05	
11D all	(0.2%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.8%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	
PROF	-0.03	0.24	0.02	-0.03	-0.05	-0.08	-0.07	-0.14	-0.09	
	(0.3%)	(0.2%)	(0.3%)	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.9%)	(0.4%)	(0.5%)	(0.5%)	
ТЕСН	-0.02	-0.01	0.07	0.01	-0.01	-0.03	0.00	-0.01	-0.02	
	(0.3%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.6%)	(0.2%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	
Clerks	-0.01	-0.05	0.00	0.08	-0.02	-0.03	0.04	0.03	0.01	
	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.6%)	(0.2%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	
S & S	-0.08	-0.11	-0.03	0.00	0.12	0.02	0.04	0.06	0.02	
	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.2%)	(0.4%)	(0.2%)	(0.5%)	(0.3%)	(0.2%)	(0.2%)	
AGRI	-0.17	-0.13	-0.07	-0.03	-0.04	0.40	-0.05	0.03	-0.01	
	(1.4%)	(1.2%)	(0.9%)	(0.5%)	(0.7%)	(0.2%)	(1.0%)	(0.6%)	(0.7%)	
TRADE	-0.14	-0.11	-0.04	0.00	-0.02	0.00	0.26	0.01	0.02	
	(1.6%)	(1.3%)	(1.0%)	(0.5%)	(0.7%)	(0.4%)	(0.7%)	(0.8%)	(0.8%)	
P&M	-0.18	-0.15	-0.07	0.01	-0.02	0.00	0.06	0.26	0.06	
	(0.9%)	(0.9%)	(0.6%)	(0.3%)	(0.5%)	(0.2%)	(0.6%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	
ELMT	-0.11	-0.08	-0.05	0.00	-0.02	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.15	
	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.2%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.2%)	

Appendix Table V: Assortative matching index of occupational pairings for 1986 and 2013 in all urban areas

Notes: Results are the occupational assortative matching index for couples in all urban areas combined with same type of occupation in 1986 and 2013. Index is calculated as : Actual-Random errors in brackets (standard errors are the standard deviations from 250 replications of randomisation). Abbreviations: AD&M – Legislators, Administrators and Managers; PROF – Professionals; TECH – Technicians and Associate Professionals; CLERKS – Clerks; S&S – Service and Sales Workers; AGRI -Agriculture and Fishery Workers;TRADE – Trades Workers; P&M – Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers;ELMT – Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

Index- Non-metropolitan areas										
Female	Male									
				1	986					
	AD&M	PROF	TECH	Clerks	S & S	AGRI	TRADE	P&M	ELMT	
AD&M	0.41	-0.06	-0.03	-0.04	-0.03	-0.07	-0.09	-0.08	-0.06	
	(0.4%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.7%)	(0.7%)	(0.7%)	(0.8%)	(0.8%)	(0.8%)	
PROF	-0.04	0.36	0.03	-0.02	-0.04	-0.08	-0.06	-0.09	-0.07	
	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.7%)	(0.9%)	(0.9%)	(1.0%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.9%)	
TECH	-0.06	0.05	0.10	0.01	-0.01	-0.03	-0.02	-0.05	-0.01	
	(0.9%)	(0.7%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.9%)	(0.9%)	(0.5%)	
Clerks	-0.01	-0.06	0.07	0.10	0.04	-0.15	0.08	-0.06	-0.07	
	(0.8%)	(1.1%)	(1.0%)	(1.1%)	(1.2%)	(1.4%)	(0.6%)	(0.8%)	(1.3%)	
S & S	-0.07	-0.11	-0.03	0.01	0.11	-0.04	0.03	0.06	0.07	
	(0.7%)	(0.8%)	(0.7%)	(0.9%)	(0.7%)	(0.9%)	(0.5%)	(0.6%)	(0.8%)	
AGRI	-0.14	-0.08	-0.07	-0.05	-0.05	0.49	-0.11	-0.01	-0.02	
	(1.2%)	(1.0%)	(0.9%)	(0.8%)	(0.8%)	(0.4%)	(1.4%)	(1.1%)	(0.7%)	
TRADE	-0.09	-0.08	-0.02	-0.02	-0.03	-0.02	0.23	0.05	0.01	
	(1.9%)	(1.5%)	(1.4%)	(1.2%)	(1.3%)	(1.1%)	(1.5%)	(1.7%)	(1.3%)	
P&M	-0.12	-0.10	-0.06	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	0.05	0.20	0.06	
	(0.9%)	(0.7%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.6%)	(0.8%)	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	
ELMT	-0.09	-0.09	-0.06	0.00	-0.03	0.00	0.00	0.16	0.12	
	(1.1%)	(0.8%)	(0.8%)	(0.6%)	(0.7%)	(0.6%)	(1.2%)	(0.9%)	(0.5%)	
	-			2	013					
AD&M	0.15	-0.05	-0.01	-0.05	-0.02	-0.07	-0.03	-0.06	-0.04	
	(0.3%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(1.2%)	(0.8%)	(1.0%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.7%)	
PROF	-0.04	0.27	0.03	-0.02	-0.01	-0.06	-0.03	-0.10	-0.07	
	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.7%)	(1.4%)	(0.8%)	(1.2%)	(0.6%)	(0.7%)	(0.8%)	
TECH	-0.02	-0.01	0.05	0.01	-0.01	-0.02	0.01	-0.01	-0.01	
	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(1.0%)	(0.7%)	(0.8%)	(0.5%)	(0.5%)	(0.6%)	
Clerks	0.01	-0.04	0.01	0.07	-0.03	-0.04	0.03	0.01	-0.01	
	(0.5%)	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.9%)	(0.7%)	(0.8%)	(0.4%)	(0.5%)	(0.6%)	
S & S	-0.06	-0.08	-0.03	0.01	0.11	0.00	0.02	0.05	0.02	
	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.9%)	(0.5%)	(0.7%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.6%)	
AGRI	-0.14	-0.08	-0.07	-0.02	-0.04	0.41	-0.08	-0.01	-0.01	
	(1.9%)	(1.3%)	(1.2%)	(0.6%)	(1.2%)	(0.5%)	(1.6%)	(1.3%)	(1.1%)	
TRADE	-0.12	-0.07	-0.04	-0.01	-0.02	-0.01	0.26	0.00	0.03	
	(2.7%)	(1.8%)	(1.8%)	(0.9%)	(1.7%)	(1.3%)	(1.6%)	(1.9%)	(1.5%)	
P&M	-0.14	-0.10	-0.05	0.00	-0.05	0.01	-0.01	0.27	0.05	
	(1.4%)	(1.1%)	(1.0%)	(0.6%)	(0.9%)	(0.6%)	(1.3%)	(0.8%)	(0.8%)	
ELMT	-0.10	-0.06	-0.05	0.00	-0.03	0.01	-0.02	0.09	0.15	
	(1.0%)	(0.8%)	(0.7%)	(0.5%)	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.8%)	(0.7%)	(0.5%)	

Appendix Table W: Assortative matching index of occupational pairings for 1986 and 2013 in nonmetropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the occupational assortative matching index for couples in Non-metropolitan areas with same type of occupation in 1986 and 2013. Index is calculated as : $\frac{Actual-Random}{Max\ homogamy-Random}$. Standard errors in brackets (standard errors are the standard deviations from 250 replications of randomisation). Abbreviations: AD&M – Legislators, Administrators and Managers; PROF – Professionals; TECH – Technicians and Associate Professionals; CLERKS – Clerks; S&S – Service and Sales Workers; AGRI -Agriculture and Fishery Workers;TRADE – Trades Workers; P&M – Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers;ELMT – Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

Index- Metropolitan areas									
Female				10	Male				
	ΔD&M	PROF	ТЕСН	Clarks	<u>00</u> 2,8,2	ACRI	TRADE	₽ <i>₽</i> ,M	FIMT
AD&M	0.36	-0.04	-0.03	-0.04	-0.03	-0.07	-0.08	-0.07	-0.06
nban	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.8%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)
PROF	-0.03	0.31	0.03	-0.02	-0.03	-0.08	-0.08	-0.10	-0.10
11101	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.5%)	(0.5%)	(0.9%)	(0.4%)	(0.5%)	(0.6%)
ТЕСН	-0.02	0.05	0.10	0.00	-0.01	-0.04	-0.03	-0.05	-0.04
12011	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.7%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)
Clerks	0.00	-0.09	0.07	0.13	0.03	-0.20	0.06	-0.11	-0.08
GIELIKS	(0.5%)	(0.7%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)	(0.7%)	(1.8%)	(0.5%)	(0.7%)	(1.0%)
S & S	-0.05	-0.07	-0.02	0.00	0.10	-0.04	0.02	0.04	0.04
bub	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.8%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)
AGRI	-0.16	-0.10	-0.08	-0.07	-0.05	0.57	-0.11	-0.05	-0.03
	(1.4%)	(1.1%)	(1.0%)	(0.9%)	(0.8%)	(0.2%)	(1.4%)	(1.0%)	(0.7%)
TRADE	-0.10	-0.10	-0.04	-0.01	-0.03	-0.01	0.20	0.07	0.03
	(1.1%)	(0.8%)	(0.7%)	(0.6%)	(0.7%)	(0.3%)	(0.8%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)
P&M	-0.14	-0.11	-0.07	-0.01	-0.02	-0.02	0.07	0.20	0.09
	(0.6%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.7%)	(0.5%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)
ELMT	-0.14	-0.11	-0.07	-0.01	-0.02	0.00	0.04	0.15	0.15
	(0.7%)	(0.5%)	(0.5%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.5%)	(0.6%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)
	. ,			20	13				
AD&M	0.16	-0.04	-0.02	-0.06	-0.04	-0.07	-0.04	-0.08	-0.06
	(0.2%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.6%)	(0.4%)	(1.1%)	(0.4%)	(0.5%)	(0.5%)
PROF	-0.03	0.23	0.01	-0.04	-0.07	-0.08	-0.08	-0.15	-0.09
	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.8%)	(0.5%)	(1.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.6%)	(0.6%)
ТЕСН	-0.03	-0.02	0.07	0.00	-0.01	-0.03	0.00	-0.01	-0.02
	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.8%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)
Clerks	-0.02	-0.06	0.00	0.08	-0.01	-0.02	0.04	0.03	0.02
	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.8%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)
S & S	-0.08	-0.11	-0.03	0.00	0.13	0.01	0.04	0.05	0.02
	(0.5%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.2%)	(0.7%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)
AGRI	-0.17	-0.14	-0.05	-0.03	-0.05	0.39	-0.04	0.03	-0.02
	(2.1%)	(1.6%)	(1.4%)	(0.7%)	(1.0%)	(0.3%)	(1.2%)	(0.9%)	(1.0%)
TRADE	-0.14	-0.13	-0.05	0.00	-0.02	0.00	0.27	0.02	0.02
	(1.7%)	(1.6%)	(1.2%)	(0.7%)	(0.8%)	(0.4%)	(0.8%)	(0.9%)	(0.8%)
P&M	-0.19	-0.16	-0.08	0.01	-0.01	0.00	0.08	0.25	0.06
	(1.1%)	(1.0%)	(0.7%)	(0.4%)	(0.6%)	(0.3%)	(0.7%)	(0.4%)	(0.5%)
ELMT	-0.12	-0.09	-0.05	0.00	-0.01	-0.01	0.01	0.07	0.16
	(0.8%)	(0.6%)	(0.5%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)	(0.4%)	(0.4%)	(0.3%)	(0.3%)

Appendix Table X: Assortative matching index of occupational pairings for 1986 and 2013 in Metropolitan areas

Notes: Results are the occupational assortative matching index for couples in Metropolitan areas with same type of occupation in 1986 and 2013. Index is calculated as : $\frac{Actual-Random}{Max homogamy-Random}$. Standard errors in brackets (standard errors are the standard deviations from 250 replications of randomisation). Abbreviations: AD&M – Legislators, Administrators and Managers; PROF – Professionals; TECH – Technicians and Associate Professionals; CLERKS – Clerks; S&S – Service and Sales Workers; AGRI - Agriculture and Fishery Workers; TRADE – Trades Workers; P&M – Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers; ELMT – Elementary occupations (incl. Residual)

Recent Motu Working Papers

All papers in the Motu Working Paper Series are available on our website www.motu.nz, or by contacting us on info@motu.org.nz or +64 4 939 4250.

- 18-12 Fabling, Richard. 2018. "Entrepreneurial beginnings: Transitions to self-employment and the creation of jobs."
- 18-11 Fleming, David A and Kate Preston. 2018. "International agricultural mitigation research and the impacts and value of two SLMACC research projects." (also a Ministry for Primary Industries publication)
- 18-10 Hyslop, Dean and David Rea. 2018. "Do housing allowances increase rents? Evidence from a discrete policy change."
- 18-09 Fleming, David A., Ilan Noy, Jacob Pástor-Paz and Sally Owen. 2018. "Public insurance and climate change (part one): Past trends in weather-related insurance in New Zealand."
- 18-08 Sin, Isabelle, Kabir Dasgupta and Gail Pacheco. 2018. "Parenthood and labour market outcomes." (also a Ministry for Women Report)
- 18-07 Grimes, Arthur and Dennis Wesselbaum. 2018. "Moving towards happiness."
- 18-06 Qasim, Mubashir and Arthur Grimes. 2018. "Sustainable economic policy and well-being: The relationship between adjusted net savings and subjective well-being."
- 18-05 Clay, K Chad, Ryan Bakker, Anne-Marie Brook, Daniel W Hill Jr and Amanda Murdie. 2018. "HRMI Civil and Political Rights Metrics: 2018 Technical Note."
- 18-04 Apatov, Eyal, Nathan Chappell and Arthur Grimes. 2018. "Is internet on the right track? The digital divide, path dependence, and the rollout of New Zealand's ultra-fast broadband." (forthcoming)
- 18-03 Sin, Isabelle, Eyal Apatov and David C Maré. 2018. "How did removing student allowances for postgraduate study affect students' choices?"
- 18-02 Jaffe, Adam B and Nathan Chappell. 2018. "Worker flows, entry, and productivity in New Zealand's construction industry."
- 18-01 Harris, Richard and Trinh Le. 2018. "Absorptive capacity in New Zealand firms: Measurement and importance."
- 17-15 Sin, Isabelle, Steven Stillman and Richard Fabling. 2017. "What drives the gender wage gap? Examining the roles of sorting, productivity differences, and discrimination."
- 17-14 MacCulloch, Robert. 2017. "Political systems, social welfare policies, income security and unemployment."
- 17-13 Fleming, David A., Arthur Grimes, Laurent Lebreton, David C Maré and Peter Nunns. 2017. "Valuing sunshine."
- 17-12 Hyslop, Dean and Wilbur Townsend. 2017. "The longer term impacts of job displacement on labour market outcomes."
- 17-11 Carver, Thomas, Patrick Dawson and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Including forestry in an Emissions Trading Scheme: Lessons from New Zealand."
- 17-10 Daigneault, Adam, Sandy Elliott, Suzie Greenhalgh, Suzi Kerr, Edmund Lou, Leah Murphy, Levente Timar and Sanjay Wadhwa. 2017. "Modelling the potential impact of New Zealand's freshwater reforms on land-based Greenhouse Gas emissions"
- 17-09 Coleman, Andrew. 2017. "Housing, the 'Great Income Tax Experiment', and the intergenerational consequences of the lease"
- 17-08 Preston, Kate and Arthur Grimes. 2017. "Migration and Gender: Who Gains and in Which Ways?"
- 17-07 Grimes, Arthur, Judd Ormsby and Kate Preston. 2017. "Wages, Wellbeing and Location: Slaving Away in Sydney or Cruising on the Gold Coast."
- 17-06 Leining, Catherine, Judd Ormsby and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Evolution of the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme: Linking."

Motu